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PART I 

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Sections 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
that reflect Abaxis’ current view with respect to future events and financial performance.  In this report, the words “will,” 
“anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “future,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.  
These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to those discussed 
below, that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated.  Such risks and 
uncertainties include the market acceptance of our products and the continuing development of our products, required United 
States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) clearance and other government approvals, risks associated with manufacturing 
and distributing our products on a commercial scale, free of defects, risks related to the introduction of new instruments 
manufactured by third parties, risks associated with entering the human diagnostic market on a larger scale, risks related to the 
protection of Abaxis’ intellectual property or claims of infringement of intellectual property asserted by third parties, risks 
involved in carrying of inventory, risks associated with the ability to attract, train and retain competent sales personnel, general 
market conditions and competition.   

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.  
Abaxis assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements as circumstances change.  Readers are advised to read 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K in its entirety paying careful attention to the risk factors set forth in this and other reports or 
documents filed by Abaxis from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, particularly the Quarterly Reports 
on Form 10-Q and any current reports on Form 8-K, copies of which may be obtained from Abaxis or from the Securities and 
Exchange Commission at its website at www.sec.gov.   

 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

General 

Abaxis, Inc. (“us” or “we”), incorporated in California in 1989, develops, manufactures and markets portable blood analysis 
systems for use in any veterinary or human patient-care setting to provide clinicians with rapid blood constituent 
measurements.  Our principal offices are located at 3240 Whipple Road, Union City, California 94587 and our telephone 
number is (510) 675-6500.  Our Internet address is www.abaxis.com.  We make available free of charge on or through our 
Internet website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all 
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to 
the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol 
“ABAX.”  

Our primary product is a blood analysis system, consisting of a compact 6.9 kilogram (15 pounds) portable analyzer and a 
series of single-use plastic discs, called reagent discs, containing all the chemicals required to perform a panel of up to 13 tests 
on veterinary patients and 14 tests on human patients.  The system can be operated with minimal training and performs 
multiple routine tests on whole blood, serum or plasma samples.  The system provides test results in less than 14 minutes with 
the precision and accuracy equivalent to a clinical laboratory analyzer.  We currently market this system for veterinary use 
under the name VetScan® and in the human medical market under the name Piccolo®.    

Through April 2004, we marketed a veterinary hematology analyzer under the name VetScan HMT, which provided a 
complete blood count including three-part white blood cell differential in less than 2 minutes and required only 12 µL 
(microliters) of whole blood.  It provided results for eight selectable species, plus two user configurable programs.  We 
marketed one type of reagent kit with this analyzer.  We purchased the hematology analyzer and reagent kits from Melet 
Schloesing Laboratoires of France.  We continue to support and service our current population of VetScan HMT hematology 
customers. 

In May 2004, we introduced a hematology instrument (“VetScan HMII”) that offers an 18-parameter CBC (complete blood 
count) analysis, including a three-part white blood cell differential for the diagnostic assessment of patients by the veterinarian 
in their clinic.  We entered into an original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) agreement with Diatron Messtechnik GmbH 
(DIATRON) of Austria to purchase the DIATRON hematology instruments commencing in the fiscal quarter that the 
instruments were qualified, which was the first quarter of fiscal 2005.  We market the combination of the VetScan and the 
VetScan HMII under the name VetScan DXS.   

We offer our blood analysis system with a total of 26 diagnostic tests.  Our repertoire of tests consists of the following: 
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Test Methods 
Alanine aminotransferase  ALT 
Albumin  ALB 
Alkaline phosphatase  ALP 
Amylase  AMY 
Aspartate aminotransferase  AST 
Bile acids  BA 
Calcium  CA++ 
Creatine kinase  CK 
Chloride  CL- 
Creatinine  CRE 
Direct bilirubin  DBIL 
Gamma glutamyl transferase  GGT 
Glucose  GLU 
High-density lipoprotein cholesterol  HDL 
Magnesium  MG 
Phosphorous  PHOS 
Potassium  K+ 
Sodium  NA+ 
Thyroxine  T4 
Total bilirubin  TBIL 
Total carbon dioxide  TCO2 
Total cholesterol  CHOL 
Total protein  TP 
Triglycerides  TRIG 
Urea nitrogen  BUN 
Uric acid  UA 
  

Nineteen of these tests are marketed for both human and veterinary markets.  The tests for BA, MG and T4 are currently 
marketed exclusively in the veterinary market.  The tests for CL-, DBIL, HDL and TRIG are marketed exclusively in the 
human medical market.  We market our reagent products by configuring these 26 test methods in panels that are designed to 
meet a variety of clinical diagnostic needs.  We currently offer 10 multi-test reagent disc products in the human medical market 
and 8 multi-test reagent disc products in the veterinary market. 

Our Industry:  In Vitro Diagnostic Testing 

We believe that a key element of the patient-centered, cost-constrained health care system in the current year and beyond will 
be the availability of blood analysis systems in the patient care setting that are easily and reliably operated by caregivers and 
provide accurate, real time results for enabling rapid clinical decisions.  The optimal system uses whole blood, has built-in 
calibration and quality control, provides quick turnaround time, is portable and low cost.  In addition, the optimal near-patient 
system should be easy to use by people with no special training and capable of transmitting test results instantly to caregivers 
and patient information management systems.    

Abaxis has developed a blood analysis system incorporating all of these criteria into a 6.9 kilogram (15 pounds) portable 
analyzer and a series of menu-specific, multi-test single-use reagent discs.  The system is essentially a compact portable 
laboratory that can be easily located near the patient.  Each reagent disc is pre-configured with multiple analytes and contains 
all the reagents necessary to perform a fixed menu of tests.  Taking the system to the patient care site instead of shipping the 
sample to a central laboratory makes blood testing and analysis as easy as measuring the patient’s blood pressure, temperature, 
and heart rate and eliminates the necessity of multiple visits to the doctor’s office.  Additional advantages of near-patient 
testing include eliminating errors from sample handling, transcription and transportation.  We have adapted this blood analysis 
system in both the veterinary and human medical markets in order to bring the same advantages to all healthcare professionals 
and patients.  

Abaxis Products  

Point-of-Care Blood Chemistry Analyzers  
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We currently manufacture and market our point-of-care blood chemistry analyzers for veterinary use under the name 
VetScan® and in the human medical market under the name Piccolo®.  The blood analysis system is a portable 
spectrophotometer, which is a device that measures the absorption of light at various wavelengths.  A variable speed motor is 
used to spin a reagent disc for sample processing.  The chemical reactions in the disc’s cuvettes are measured optically by 
detecting the light absorbance of the solutions in the cuvettes at pre-determined wavelengths.  The absorbances are converted 
to clinically relevant units by a measurement microprocessor.  Results are stored by the analyzer’s interface microprocessor, 
sent to an RS232 port and printed on result cards by an internal thermal printer or transmitted to a patient data management 
system.  The features of the analyzer include a small required sample size (100 µL) of whole blood, serum or plasma, an 
intelligent quality control system that includes many self-test functions to ensure quality results, a built-in instrument self 
calibration, a built-in printer, a quick turn-around time of less than 14 minutes, minimal operational training and ease of 
information transmission using a computer port on the analyzer.  

Hematology  

From March 1999 to April 2004, we operated under an original equipment manufacturing (OEM) and distribution agreement 
with MELET SCHLOESING Laboratoires (MELET) under which we marketed and sold the MELET hematology instrument 
and reagents and MELET marketed and sold the VetScan and Piccolo products.  We marketed the MELET hematology 
instrument as the VetScan® HMT in the veterinary market.  

In May 2004, we introduced the VetScan HMII, a hematology instrument that offers an 18-parameter CBC (complete blood 
count) analysis, including a three-part white blood cell differential for the diagnostic assessment of patients by the veterinarian 
in their clinic.  We entered into an original equipment manufacturing (OEM) agreement with Diatron Messtechnik GmbH 
(DIATRON) of Austria to purchase the DIATRON hematology instruments commencing in the fiscal quarter that the 
instruments were qualified, which was the first quarter of fiscal 2005.  In the veterinary market, we market the combination of 
the VetScan and the VetScan HMII under the name VetScan DXS. 

Reagent Discs  

The reagent discs used with the blood chemistry analyzers are designed to handle almost all technical steps of blood chemistry 
testing automatically.  The discs first separate a whole blood sample into plasma and blood cells, meter the required quantity of 
plasma and diluent, mix the plasma and diluent, and deliver the mixture to the reagent chambers, called cuvettes, along the disc 
perimeter.  The diluted plasma dissolves and mixes with the reagent beads initiating the chemical reactions, which are 
monitored by the analyzer.  The discs are 8-cm diameter, single-use devices constructed from three ultrasonically welded 
injection-molded plastic parts.  The base and the middle piece create the chambers, cuvettes and passageways for processing 
the whole blood and mixing plasma with diluent and reagents.  The top piece, referred to as the bar code ring, is imprinted with 
bar codes that contain disc-specific calibration information.  In the center of the disc is a plastic diluent container sealed with 
polyethylene-laminated foil.  Spherical lyophilized reagent beads are placed in the cuvettes during disc manufacturing.  Upon 
completion of the analysis, used discs may be placed back into their foil pouches to minimize human contact with blood prior 
to proper disposal.  

To perform a panel of tests, the operator collects a blood sample, then transfers the sample into the reagent disc.  The operator 
places the disc into the analyzer drawer, and enters patient, physician, and operator information.  The analyzer spins the disc to 
separate cells from plasma, meters and mixes plasma with diluent, distributes diluted plasma to the cuvettes, and monitors 
chemical reactions.  In less than 14 minutes, results are printed out on a result card with an adhesive backing or can be 
transmitted to a patient data management system for inclusion in the patient’s medical record.  A computer port enables 
transmission of patient results to external computers for patient data management.   

The VetScan system was introduced in the U.S. veterinary market in July 1994.  We initially launched the system with the 
Diagnostic Profile, a nine-test reagent product.  Since then, we have added new test methods and new reagent disc products 
targeted to fulfill different veterinary diagnostic needs.  The following is a list of the VetScan reagent discs currently offered: 

VetScan Profile Description of the Test Panels 
Avian-Reptilian Profile ALB, AST, BUN, CA++, CK, GLOB, GLU, K+, NA+, PHOS, TP, UA.  

Comprehensive Diagnostic Profile ALB, ALP, ALT, AMY, BUN, CA++, CRE, GLOB, GLU, K+, NA+, PHOS, TBIL, TP. 

Critical Care Profile ALT, BUN, CRE, GLU, K+, NA+, tCO2. 
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Equine Profile ALB, AST, BUN, CA++, CK, CRE, GGT, GLOB, GLU, TBIL, TP. 

Large Animal Profile ALB, ALP, AST, BUN, CA++, CK, GGT, GLOB, MG++, PHOS, TP. 

Mammalian Liver Profile ALB, ALP, ALT, BA, BUN, CHOL, GGT, TBIL. 

Prep Profile II ALP, ALT, BUN, CRE, GLU, TP. 

T4-Cholesterol Profile CHOL, T4. 

 
We introduced our Piccolo system to the human medical market in November 1995 with two reagent discs, General Health 
Panel 8 and General Health Panel 11.  Since that time we have introduced new panels to aid conventional disease diagnosis or 
monitor disease treatment.  The following is a list of the Piccolo reagent discs currently offered: 

Piccolo Panels Description of the Test Panels 
Basic Metabolic Panel BUN, CA++, CL-, CRE, GLU, K+, NA+, tCO2.  

Comprehensive Metabolic ALB, ALP, ALT, AST, BUN, CA++, CL-, CRE, GLU, K+, NA+, TBIL, tCO2, TP.  

Electrolyte Panel CL- ,K+, Na+, tCO2.

General Chemistry 6 ALT, AST, BUN, CRE, GGT, GLU. 

General Chemistry 13 ALB, ALP, ALT, AMY, AST, BUN, CA++, CRE, GGT, GLU, TBIL, TP, UA. 

Hepatic Panel ALB, ALP, ALT, AST, DBIL, TBIL, TP.  

Lipid Panel TOTAL CHOL, TOTAL CHOL/HDL RATIO, HDL, LDL, TRIG, VLDL.  

Liver Panel Plus ALB, ALP, ALT, AMY, AST, GGT, TBIL, TP.  

MetLyte 8 BUN, CK , CL-, CRE, GLU, K+, Na+, tCO2.

Renal Panel ALB, BUN, CA++, CL-, CRE, GLU, K+, NA+, PHOS, tCO2. 

 
Orbos Process  

The dry reagents used in our reagent discs are produced using a proprietary technology called the Orbos® Discrete 
Lyophilization Process.  This process allows the production of a precise amount of active chemical ingredient in the form of a 
soluble bead.  The Orbos process involves flash-freezing a drop of liquid reagent to form a solid bead and then freeze-drying 
the bead to remove water.  The Orbos beads are stable in dry form and dissolve rapidly in aqueous solutions.  We believe that 
the Orbos process has broad applications in products where delivery of active ingredients in a stable, pre-metered format is 
desired.  We have licensed the technology underlying the Orbos process to Amersham Biosciences Corp. (formerly Pharmacia 
Biotech, Inc.) and we have a supply contract with Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry Systems for products using the Orbos 
process.  Revenues from these arrangements, however, are unpredictable.  We continue to explore potential applications with 
other companies, although there can be no assurance that we will be able to develop any new applications for the Orbos 
process. 

Future Products  

We continue to develop new products that we believe will provide further opportunities for growth in the human medical and 
veterinary markets.  During fiscal 2005, in the human medical market, we completed the development of and released our 
General Chemistry 13 panel and we also received CLIA waived status for our lipid test panel.  In the first quarter of fiscal 
2006, in the human medical market, we plan to release a second generation Lipid Panel Disc that would add liver function and 
glucose tests to the current lipid panel.  With the Lipid Panel Plus, medical clinicians can diagnose patients for heart disease, 
metabolic syndrome and liver enzyme monitoring combined in one point-of-care test.  Additionally, we have submitted for 
FDA clearance a lactate dehydrogenase test for a new chemotherapy evaluation panel developed specifically for oncology/ 
hematology clinicians.  Development of tests for other disc products will be targeted at specific applications based on fulfilling 
clinical needs.   

6 



Our current focus of test methods development is in general clinical chemistry.  In addition to general clinical chemistry, we 
have demonstrated our ability to perform immunoassay tests on our blood analysis system by successfully developing the 
Thyroxine (T4) test in the veterinary market.  We believe other immunoassay methods can be performed with our discs to 
measure a wide assortment of blood analytes, including cardiac markers.  Although there can be no assurance that we will be 
able to develop any of these potential products or that they will be successfully introduced into the marketplace, we believe 
that our technology and expertise will allow us to develop reagent disc products in the future to provide a variety of additional 
blood tests.  

Customers and Distribution  

Customers  

Our point-of-care blood analyzer products and reagent discs are sold either directly or through distributors depending on the 
needs of the customer segment.  In the delivery of human or veterinary care, there are many kinds of providers and a multitude 
of sites where Abaxis products could be used as an alternative to relying on a central laboratory for blood test information.   

We believe that our current Piccolo system menu of 23 reagent test results is suitable for a wide variety of the human medical 
market segments.  These market segments include military installations (ships, field hospitals and mobile care units), 
physicians office practices across all specialities, urgent care and walk-in clinics (free-standing or hospital-connected), home 
care providers (national, regional or local), nursing homes, ambulance companies, oncology treatment clinics, hospital labs and 
draw stations.   

We believe that our current veterinary reagent product offerings meet a substantial part of the clinical diagnostic needs of 
veterinarians.  Potential customers for the VetScan DXS are primarily companion animal hospitals, animal clinics with mixed 
practices of small animals, birds and reptiles, equine practitioners, veterinary referral hospitals, private toxicology laboratories 
and university and government toxicology research laboratories.  

Distribution Within North America  

We sell our human-oriented products directly to those customers who serve large human patient populations with employed 
caregivers such as the military, hospitals and managed care organizations.  As a result of health care reform, we anticipate a 
consolidation of providers with more centralized purchasing of medical products based on the standardization of care and the 
use of patient outcome studies to influence purchase decisions.  We plan to achieve our direct sales objectives by employing 
highly skilled sales specialists and eventually sales teams which will work closely with providers in performing studies to 
show that the use of the Piccolo point-of-care blood chemistry analyzer rather than laboratory alternatives can provide better 
outcomes at a lower cost.  

Currently, we are exploring distribution alternatives, which can contribute to identifying potential customers and introducing 
the product, but often need the support of our personnel in closing the sale.  Product distributors are generally of two types:  
large companies that primarily serve hospitals, clinics and large health maintenance organizations (HMOs) nationwide using 
multiple warehouses and extensive transportation systems and smaller companies that provide the daily supplies needed by 
office-based physicians.  However, several large distributors have acquired local and regional companies to service the office-
based physicians market segment as well.  In the human medical market, national firms sell thousands of products, including 
furniture, capital equipment, surgical instruments and a myriad of consumables.  The smaller companies generally direct their 
product offerings to those items a physician uses daily in caring for primarily ambulatory patients.  These firms also may sell 
lower priced equipment such as diagnostic instruments, which are used in conjunction with consumable reagents.  

Veterinarians are served typically by local distributors, some with national affiliations.  We work with various independent 
distributors of which DVM Resources is our fastest growing partner in instrument and consumable sales.  In April 2004, we 
signed a distributor agreement with the Veterinary Division of Henry Schein, Inc., a distributor of animal healthcare products 
and services to veterinary practitioners to sell and distribute the VetScan DXS, along with the associated reagent discs and kits.  
As part of the realignment of our distribution channel, in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we terminated our relationship with 
Vedco, Inc., a warehousing cooperative for member distributors who sold Abaxis products to their respective customers.  We 
are working with other U.S. based regional and national distributors, which includes American Veterinary Supply Corp., DVM 
Resources, Henry Schein, IVESCO, TradeWinds Trading Company and Western Medical Supply, to expand their sales and 
services to support the customers served by other Vedco distributors.  In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we negotiated direct 
distributor agreements with Vedco members Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller Veterinary Supply.  In addition to selling 
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through distributors, we directly supply our VetScan products to Veterinary Centers of America (VCA), the nation’s largest 
veterinary hospital chain.   

Outside of the United States, we sell our veterinary products to various distributors located in Canada.  Our veterinary reagents 
are sold to distributors such as CDMV, Midwest Veterinary Distribution Cooperative LTD, Veterinary Purchasing Company 
Limited and Western Drug Distribution Center LTD and we currently sell our VetScans to one distributor, Vet Novations.  We 
intend to enter into arrangements with additional veterinary distributors within North America as well as pursue direct 
veterinary sales where appropriate.  

Distribution Outside of North America  

Our international sales and marketing objectives include identifying and defining the market segments in each country by 
product and then focusing on specific objectives for each segment in each country.  These specific objectives include 
modification and expansion of distribution and distributor training and monitoring to ensure the attainment of sales goals.  

We currently have distributors for our products in the following countries:  Australia, Austria, Bahrain, Belgium, France, 
Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Kuwait, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Russia, South 
Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom.  Our distributor in each of these countries 
is responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals to sell our products.  These distributors may not be successful in obtaining 
proper approvals for our products in their respective countries, and they may not be successful in marketing our products.  We 
plan to continue to enter into additional distributor relationships to expand our international distribution base and solidify our 
international presence.  

Competition  

Competition in the human and veterinary diagnostic markets is intense.  Blood analysis is a well established field in which 
there are a number of competitors that have substantially greater financial resources and larger, more established marketing, 
sales and service organizations than we do.  We compete with the following organizations: commercial clinical laboratories, 
hospitals’ clinical laboratories and manufacturers of bench top multi-test blood analyzers and other testing systems that health 
care providers can use “on-site.”  

Historically, hospitals and commercial laboratories perform most of the human medical testing, and veterinary specialized 
commercial laboratories perform most veterinary medical testing.  We have identified five principal factors that customers 
typically use to evaluate our products and those of our competitors.  These factors are as follows:  range of tests offered; the 
immediacy of results; cost effectiveness; ease of use and reliability of results.  We believe that we compete effectively on each 
of these factors except for the range of tests offered.  Clinical laboratories are effective at processing both a wide range and 
high volumes of discrete tests using skilled technicians and complex equipment.  While our current offering of reagent discs 
cannot provide the same broad range of tests, we believe that in our targeted market segments, our products provide a 
sufficient breadth of test menus to compete successfully with clinical laboratories given the advantages of our products with 
respect to the other four factors.  

Our principal competitors in the human diagnostic market are Alfa Wassermann S.P.A., Elan Diagnostics, Hemagen 
Diagnostics, Inc., i-STAT Corporation (which was purchased by Abbott Laboratories), Johnson & Johnson (including its 
subsidiary, Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics, Inc.), Novitron International, Inc., Polymedco and Roche.  Our principal competitors in 
the veterinary diagnostic market are Idexx Laboratories, Inc. and Heska Corporation.  Most of our competitors have 
significantly greater financial and other resources than we do.  In particular, many of our competitors have large sales forces 
and well-established distribution channels.  Consequently, we are developing our distribution network and expanding our 
direct sales force in order to compete in these markets. 

Manufacturing  

We manufacture our Piccolo and VetScan products from our facility located in Union City, California.  The VetScan HMII is 
manufactured by DIATRON in Hungary and is purchased by us as a completed instrument.     

Our Piccolo products are regulated under the 1976 Medical Device Amendments to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which 
is administered by the Food and Drug Administration.  To produce and commercially ship Piccolo products, we must have a 
license to manufacture medical products in the State of California, where we conduct our principal manufacturing activities, 
and have approval from the FDA as a medical device manufacturer.  The 1976 Medical Device Amendment requires us to 
manufacture our Piccolo products in accordance with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) guidelines.  Current 

8 



Good Manufacturing Practice requirements are set forth in the 21 CFR 820 Quality System Regulation.  These requirements 
regulate the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, manufacture, packaging, storage, installation 
and servicing of our medical devices intended for human use.  In addition, various state regulatory agencies may regulate the 
manufacture of our products.  For example, we have obtained a license from the State of California to manufacture our 
products.  In April 2001, the State of California Food and Drug Branch granted our manufacturing facility “in compliance” 
status, based on the regulations for Good Manufacturing Practices for medical devices.  In May 2001, the State of California 
Food and Drug Branch granted licensing for our Union City facility.  In May 2002, we received our ISO 9001 certification, 
expanding our compliance with international quality standards.  In March 2003, the U.S. FDA conducted a facilities inspection 
and verified our compliance with the 21 CFR 820 Regulation.  Although we are not required to comply with all of the 
government regulations applicable to the human medical market when manufacturing the VetScan DXS products, we have 
established all of our manufacturing operations to be compliant with the Quality System Regulation as this ensures product 
quality and integrity regardless of end use or patient.  

In addition to the development of standardized manufacturing processes and quality control programs for the entire 
manufacturing process, our manufacturing activities are concentrated in the following three primary areas:  

• Point-of-Care Blood Chemistry Analyzer:  The analyzer used in the Piccolo and VetScan systems employs a variety of 
components designed or specified by Abaxis, including a variable speed motor, microprocessors, a liquid crystal 
display, a result card printer, a spectrophotometer and other electronic components.  These components are 
manufactured by several third party vendors that have been qualified and approved by Abaxis and then assembled by 
contract manufacturers for Abaxis.  The components are assembled at the Abaxis facility into the finished product and 
completely tested to ensure that the finished product meets product specifications.  The analyzer uses technologically 
advanced components, many of which are available only from single source vendors.  Currently, the technologically 
advanced components are purchased from two single source vendors, PerkinElmer, Inc. and Electro-Alliance, Inc., 
neither of which have a written supply agreement with us and thus both of which are not contractually obligated to 
continue supplying us with components in the quantities or at the prices that both companies have performed 
historically.  

• Reagent Discs:  The molded plastic discs used in the manufacture of the reagent disc are manufactured to our 
specifications by an established injection-molding manufacturer.  To achieve the precision required for accurate test 
results, the discs must be molded to very narrow tolerances.  To date, we have only qualified two manufacturers, C. 
Brewer & Co. and Nypro Oregon, Inc. to mold the discs.  We have also qualified a second manufacturing site with  
Nypro Oregon, Inc.  We do not have supply agreements with any of these companies and they are under no contractual 
obligation to continue supplying us with discs either in the quantities or at the prices that such companies have done 
historically.  We are also working with our suppliers to improve yields and increase capacity on the existing production 
molds.  While we have increased the number of disc molding tools to strengthen and better protect our line of supply, an 
inability by our injection-molding manufacturers to supply sufficient discs would have a material adverse impact on our 
results of operations.  

We assemble the reagent discs by using the molded plastic discs, loading the disc with reagents and then ultrasonically 
welding together the top and bottom pieces.  In fiscal 2002, we completed our development of a semi-automated disc 
assembly line (“semi-autoline”) to provide anticipated capacity for future demand and to improve production efficiency.  
This semi-autoline was placed into service during fiscal 2003.    

• Reagent Beads:  The reagent discs contain diluent and all the dry reagent chemistry beads necessary to perform blood 
analyses.  We purchase chemicals from third party suppliers and formulate the raw materials, using proprietary 
processes, into beads at the proper concentration and consistency to facilitate placement in the reagent disc and provide 
homogeneous dissolution and mixing when contacted by the diluted plasma.  We are dependent on the following 
companies who are our sole source providers of one or more chemicals that we use in the reagent production process: 
Amano Enzyme USA Co, Ltd., Genzyme Corporation, Kikkoman Corporation Biochemical Division, Microgenics 
Corporation, Roche Molecular Biochemicals of Roche Diagnostics Corporation, a division of F. Hoffman-La Roche, 
Ltd., Shinko American Inc. and Sigma Aldrich Inc.  We do not have supply agreements with any of these companies 
and they are under no contractual obligation to continue supplying us in the quantities or at the price such companies 
have done historically.  Although we believe all of the chemicals provided by these companies would be readily 
available elsewhere and we continue to evaluate vendor sources to protect and improve our lines of supply, the loss of 
any of these companies as a supplier could materially adversely affect our manufacturing activities and results of 
operations.  
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Material Relationships with Suppliers and Other Third Parties  

Amersham Biosciences Corp. (formerly Pharmacia Biotech, Inc.)  

Under our 1994 agreement with Amersham Biosciences Corp. (formerly Pharmacia Biotech), we licensed our Orbos bead 
technology to Amersham Biosciences Corp. (formerly Pharmacia Biotech) for use in various medical tests.  This agreement 
was amended in June 1997 to include DNA/RN and Human Leukocyte Antigen testing.  We receive royalty payments equal to 
5% of net sales, as defined in the agreement, of Amersham’s products that use our technology.  

Becton Dickinson 

Under our 1994 agreement with Becton Dickinson, Becton Dickinson has agreed to purchase from us certain minimum 
quantities of our Orbos chemical beads in return for compensation and our agreeing not to license or otherwise use the Orbos 
bead process with any other party.  In June 1997, Becton Dickinson failed to purchase the minimum quantities specified in the 
agreement and thus the exclusivity terms of the agreement have lapsed.  The contract with Becton Dickinson will expire in 
September 2009 and, in the event that prior to that date we decide to cease manufacturing Orbos beads, we must give Becton 
Dickinson at least one year’s notice.  

Diatron Messtechnik GmbH  

Under our November 2003 agreement with DIATRON, we acquired the exclusive right to distribute DIATRON's veterinary 
hematology analyzers in Australia, Canada, Japan, New Zealand and the United States.  The agreement has a five year term, 
but is also subject to certain minimum purchase quantities during the first five years of the contract term. 

DVM Resources 

We do not have any contractual relationship with DVM Resources, one of our distributors that accounted for 17% and 16% of 
our revenue in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.  Consequently, DVM Resources may at any time cease to purchase our 
products without any penalty.    

Scil Animal Care Gmbh 

In September 2001, we entered into a five-year non-exclusive distribution agreement with Scil Animal Care Company GmbH 
of Germany, under which Scil will distribute our VetScan products in Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Norway, Sweden 
and the Netherlands.  

Vedco, Inc. 

We do not have any contractual relationship with Vedco, Inc., a warehousing cooperative for member distributors who sold 
Abaxis products to their respective customers.  In December 2004, we terminated our relationship with Vedco, Inc. to realign 
our distribution channel to provide Abaxis with greater visibility to manage based on individual distributor sales forecasts and 
to offer realistic price incentives based on actual distributor sales volumes.  Vedco, Inc. accounted for 14% and 27% of our 
revenue in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Government Regulation  

Piccolo System 

Food and Drug Administration Clearance  

Our Piccolo products are regulated under the 1976 Medical Device Amendments to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which 
is administered by the Food and Drug Administration.  The FDA has classified our Piccolo products as “Class I” and “Class 
II” devices.  These classifications require us to submit to the FDA a pre-market notification form or 510(k).  The FDA uses the 
510(k) to substantiate product claims that are made by medical device manufacturers prior to marketing.  In our 510(k) 
notification, we must, among other things, establish that the product we plan to market is “substantially equivalent” to (1) a 
product that was on the market prior to the adoption of the 1976 Medical Device Amendment or (2) to a product that the FDA 
has previously cleared under the 510(k) process.  The FDA review process of a 510(k) notification can last anywhere from 
three to six months, and the FDA must issue a written order finding “substantial equivalence” before a company can market a 
medical device.  To date, we have received market clearance from the FDA for our Piccolo system and 23 reagent tests that we 
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have on ten reagent discs, with the addition of General Chemistry 13 in the third quarter of fiscal 2005.  We are currently 
developing additional tests that the FDA will have to clear through the 510(k) notification procedures.  These new test 
products are crucial for our success in the human diagnostic market.  If we do not receive 510(k) clearance for a particular 
product, we will not be able to sell that product in the United States.  

Clinical Laboratory Improvements Act Regulations 

Our Piccolo products are affected by the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988.  The Clinical Laboratory 
Improvement Amendments are intended to insure the quality and reliability of all medical testing in the United States 
regardless of where tests are performed.  The current Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments divide laboratory tests 
into three categories: “simple,” “moderately complex” and “highly complex.”  Tests performed using the Piccolo system are in 
the “moderately complex” category.  This category requires that any location in which testing is performed be certified as a 
laboratory.  Hence, we can only sell our Piccolo products to customers who meet the standards of a laboratory.  To receive 
“laboratory” certification, a testing facility must be certified by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.  After the 
testing facility receives a “laboratory” certification, it must then meet the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments 
regulations.  Because we can only sell our Piccolo products to testing facilities that are certified “laboratories,” the market for 
our products is correspondingly constrained.   

In July 2004, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) granted our first waived status under CLIA regulations for our 
lipids test panel when used in conjunction with our Piccolo point of care analyzer.  Waived status permits untrained personnel 
to run the Piccolo using the Lipid Panel and, thus, extending the sites (doctors’ offices and other point-of-care environments) 
that can use the Piccolo.  Currently, a second petition is under evaluation by the FDA for our Lipid Panel Plus disc.  This disc 
includes total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, glucose, and the liver enzymes, ALT and AST.  We cannot assure 
you that we will successfully receive the waived status from the FDA on this second disc or for other products.  Consequently, 
the market for our Piccolo products may be confined to those testing facilities that are certified as “laboratories” and our 
growth will be limited accordingly. 

Other Regulations 

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and international regulations regarding the manufacture and sale of our 
products.  For example, in December 2003, we received certification from the British Standards Institute to the ISO 
13485:1996 quality system standard for medical devices.  This quality system certification, along with successful completion 
of product testing to current European standards and the translation of Piccolo product documentation into the required 
languages, enabled us to meet the compliance requirements of the CE Mark and the current European In Vitro Device 
Directive.  As we continue to sell in foreign markets, we may have to obtain additional governmental clearances in those 
markets.  We cannot predict what impact, if any, such current or future regulatory changes would have on our business.  

VetScan DXS  

The government regulations discussed above generally do not apply to our VetScan DXS products in the U.S.  Internationally, 
among the countries where we currently have established distribution arrangements, to our knowledge, Japan is the only 
market where VetScan DXS products are subject to government approvals.  In Japan, the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and 
Fishery regulates veterinary diagnostic devices, and thus the VetScan DXS system must be approved by such Ministry prior to 
being marketed in Japan.  

In order to maintain high quality standards for all products, we are using the same manufacturing facilities to manufacture all 
point-of-care blood chemistry analyzers whether they be for the Piccolo or VetScan system products and therefore is following 
the same manufacturing processes and procedures where practical.  

Intellectual Property   
 
We have pursued the development of a patent portfolio to protect our technology.  As of March 31, 2005, 33 patent 
applications have been filed on behalf of Abaxis with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, of which the following 
29 have been issued: 

Patent No. Description Issue Date Expiration Date 

5,061,381 Apparatus and Method for Separating Cells from Biological October 29, 1991 June 4, 2010 
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Fluids 

5,122,284 Apparatus and Method for Optically Analyzing Biological 
Fluids 

June 16, 1992 June 4, 2010 

5,173,193 Centrifugal Rotor Having Flow Partition December 22, 1992 April 1, 2011 

5,186,844 Apparatus and Method for Continuous Centrifugal Blood Cell 
Separation 

February 16, 1993 April 1, 2011 

5,242,606 Sample Metering Port for Analytical Rotor Having Overflow 
Chamber 

September 7, 1993 September 7, 2010 

5,275,016 Cryogenic Apparatus January 4, 1994 April 24, 2012 

5,304,348 Reagent Container for Analytical Rotor April 19, 1994 February 11, 2012 

5,384,247 Determination of Sodium Ions in Fluids January 24, 1995 January 24, 2012 

5,403,415 Method and Device for Ultrasonic Welding April 4, 1995 November 17, 2013 

5,409,665 Simultaneous Cuvette Filling with Means to Isolate Cuvettes April 25, 1995 September 1, 2013 

5,409,814 Determination of Ions in Fluids April 25, 1995 April 25, 2012 

5,413,732 Reagent Compositions for Analytical Testing May 9, 1995 May 9, 2012 

5,457,053 Reagent Container for Analytical Rotor October 10, 1995 October 10, 2012 

5,472,603 Analytical Rotor with Dye Mixing Chamber December 5, 1995 December 5, 2012 

5,478,750 Methods for Photometric Analysis December 26, 1995 March 31, 2013 

5,501,958 Determination of Potassium Ions in Fluids March 26, 1996 March 26, 2013 

5,518,930 Simultaneous Cuvette Filling with Means to Isolate Cuvettes May 21, 1996 September 1, 2013 

5,590,052 Error Checking in Blood Analyzer December 31, 1996 April 14, 2014 

5,591,643 Simplified Inlet Channels January 7, 1997 January 7, 2014 

5,599,411 Method and Device for Ultrasonic Welding February 4, 1997 November 17, 2013 

5,624,597 Reagent Compositions for Analytical Testing April 29, 1997 April 29, 2014 

5,693,233 Methods of Transporting Fluids Within An Analytical Rotor December 2, 1997 April 2, 2012 

5,776,563 Dried Chemical Compositions July 7, 1998 July 7, 2015 

5,998,031 Dried Chemical Compositions December 7, 1999 August 19, 2011 

6,068,971 Process for Determination of Ions in Fluids by Masking of 
Interfering Ions 

May 30, 2000 May 30, 2017 

6,235,531 Modified Siphons for Improved Metering Precision May 22, 2001 September 1, 2013 

6,251,684 Dried Chemical Compositions June 26, 2001 August 18, 2011 

6,752,961 Modified Siphons for Improved Metering Precision June 22, 2004 September 1, 2013
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6,818,415 Sodium Activation of Amylase November 16, 2004 June 22, 2021

 
Our policy is to file patent applications to protect technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the 
development of our business.  We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing 
opportunities to develop and maintain competitive position.  Fourteen international applications have been filed on behalf of 
Abaxis under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) and we are selectively filing patent applications in countries where we 
anticipate to market our products.  Under the fourteen PCT applications, 73 national foreign applications were filed on behalf 
of Abaxis in various countries and 62 of them have been granted.  Of these 62, twenty-eight have been abandoned and one is 
being opposed by bioMerieux in front of the European Patent Office.  We are in the process of responding to the opposition 
and obtaining final ruling from the European Patent Office.  

Employees 
 
As of March 31, 2005, we had 184 full-time employees distributed across the following divisions: 

• 26 in research and development; 

• 93 in manufacturing operations; 

• 55 in sales and marketing (including customer support); and 

• 10 in general and administrative. 

We also use temporary help to assist in carrying out certain operational duties.  As of March 31, 2005, we had 20 temporary 
employees with most of them assisting in manufacturing operations.  None of our employees are covered by collective 
bargaining agreements and management considers its relations with employees to be good. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

We occupy approximately 91,124 square feet of office, research and development and manufacturing space in a building in 
Union City, California.  The lease agreement is for ten years which commenced in January 2001 with an option to extend the 
lease for five additional years.  Our Germany office consists of approximately 1,500 square feet located in Darmstadt, 
Germany.  The lease agreement for the Germany office is terminable upon three months notice.  We believe that our current 
facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our needs for the foreseeable future. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

We are from time to time involved in various litigation matters in the normal course of business.  While the outcome of these 
proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not 
have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.  

ITEM 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

No items were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended March 31, 2005. 

PART II 

ITEM 5.   MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 

Price Range of Common Stock 

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “ABAX”.  The following table sets forth the 
quarterly high and low closing bid prices for the common stock from April 1, 2003 through March 31, 2005 as reported by the 
NASDAQ National Market: 

Prices
 High Low
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004:   
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Quarter ended June 30 $   6.67      $  3.66 
Quarter ended September 30     13.90   6.40 
Quarter ended December 31     21.50 14.26 
Quarter ended March 31     22.80        15.56 
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005:   
Quarter ended June 30 $  22.25     $ 16.51 
Quarter ended September 30     18.00        13.00 
Quarter ended December 31     15.36  11.30 
Quarter ended March 31     14.05          8.03  

 
There were approximately 19,901,420 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding and held by 201 shareholders of 
record as of June 7, 2005.   

Dividend Policy 

Under our debt agreements, we are restricted from paying aggregate cash dividends on our stock in excess of 50% of our net 
income on an annual basis.  We have not paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in 
the foreseeable future.  We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Stock Purchase Rights  

On April 22, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the adoption of a Shareholder Rights Plan.  Under the 
terms of the plan, shareholders of record on May 8, 2003, received one preferred stock purchase right for each outstanding 
share of Common Stock held.  Each right entitled the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a 
share of the Company's Series RP Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, at a price of $24.00 per share and becomes exercisable 
when a person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company's Common Stock without prior approval by the Board of 
Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

Abaxis has two equity incentive plans under which our equity securities are or have been authorized for issuance to our 
employees or directors: the 1989 Stock Option Plan, which was amended and restated as the 1998 Stock Option Plan, and the 
1992 Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan.  Both the 1998 Stock Option Plan and the 1992 Outside Directors’ Stock Option 
Plan have been approved by our shareholders.  In June 2002, the time period for granting options under the Directors' Plan 
expired in accordance with the terms of the plan.  

From time to time we issue warrants to purchase shares of our common stock to non-employees, such as service providers and 
purchasers of our preferred stock.    

The following table provides aggregate information through March 31, 2005 regarding (i) grants under both of our equity 
incentive plans and (ii) outstanding warrants to purchase our common stock. 

EQUITY COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Plan Category

Number of securities to be 
issued upon exercise of 
outstanding options, 
warrants and rights

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 
outstanding options, 
warrants and rights

Number of securities 
remaining available 
for future issuance 
under equity 
compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved by our 
shareholders:
     1998 Stock Option Plan                                        2,690,327                             $6.82 326,743                        
     1992 Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan      73,000                                  $4.54 -                                
Equity securities not approved by our
shareholders:
    Warrants to purchase our common stock (1) 287,235                                $6.67 -                                
Total: 3,050,562                             $6.75 326,743                        
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(1)  Consists of warrants expiring through May 2007.  All warrants were issued to service providers, except for warrants to 
purchase an aggregate of 23,850 and 110,000 shares of our common stock at a per share exercise price of $7.00 issued to 
purchasers of our Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock, respectively. 

ITEM 6.   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected financial data is qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and with the financial statements, related notes and 
other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Statements of Operations Data:
Product sales, net 52,464,000$      46,599,000$      34,532,000$      30,418,000$      29,536,000$      
Development and licensing revenue 294,000             275,000             248,000             213,000             237,000             
Total revenues 52,758,000        46,874,000        34,780,000        30,631,000        29,773,000        

Costs and operating expenses:
   Cost of product sales 24,811,000        22,966,000        17,755,000        15,966,000        16,560,000        
   Selling, general and administrative 15,701,000        14,431,000        11,564,000        9,333,000          9,641,000          
   Research and development 5,150,000          4,757,000          3,888,000          3,834,000          3,458,000          

Total costs and operating expenses 45,662,000        42,154,000        33,207,000        29,133,000        29,659,000        

Income from operations 7,096,000          4,720,000          1,573,000          1,498,000          114,000             

Interest and other income 302,000             173,000             217,000             91,000               140,000             
Interest and other expense (33,000)              (68,000)              (149,000)            (269,000)            (45,000)              

Income before income taxes 7,365,000          4,825,000          1,641,000          1,320,000          209,000             

Income tax provision (benefit) 2,514,000          (19,208,000)       5,000                 16,000               21,000               

Net income 4,851,000          24,033,000        1,636,000          1,304,000          188,000             

Preferred dividends and accretion (a) -                         (419,000)            (1,235,000)         (1,033,000)         (1,648,000)         

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 4,851,000$        23,614,000$      401,000$           271,000$           (1,460,000)$       

Basic net income (loss) per share 0.25$                 1.30$                 0.02$                 0.02$                 (0.09)$                

Diluted net income (loss) per share 0.22$                 1.16$                 0.02$                 0.02$                 (0.09)$                

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 19,696,299        18,128,181        16,634,447        16,264,153        15,994,438        

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 21,662,485        20,387,167        17,014,313        16,811,326        15,994,438        

Year Ended March 31, 

 
(a) For fiscal 2005 and 2004, includes preferred dividends of $0 and $419,000, respectively.   

 For fiscal 2003, includes preferred dividends of $865,000 and a non-cash preferred dividend charge of $370,000 related to 
the beneficial conversion feature contained in our Series E Preferred Stock issued in April 2002.   

 For fiscal 2002, includes preferred dividends of $446,000 and a non-cash preferred dividend charge of $587,000 related to 
the beneficial conversion feature contained in our Series E Preferred Stock issued in March 2002.   

 For fiscal 2001, includes preferred dividends of $230,000 and a non-cash preferred dividend charge of $1,418,000 related 
to the beneficial conversion feature contained in our Series D Preferred Stock issued in October 2000.   
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2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $5,776,000 $9,324,000 $10,430,000 $4,098,000 $2,012,000
Short-term investments 16,858,000 7,998,000 -                    -                    -                    
Working capital 38,744,000 25,865,000 17,855,000 13,282,000 7,811,000
Total assets 71,009,000 61,898,000 32,368,000 29,680,000 26,001,000
Long-term obligations, excluding current portion 1,629,000 938,000 1,218,000 1,747,000 2,191,000
Convertible preferred stock -                    -                    3,176,000 2,561,000 -
Total shareholders' equity 61,667,000 54,572,000 22,268,000 18,152,000 15,495,000

March 31,

 
ITEM 7.   MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

Overview 

Abaxis, Inc. (“us” or “we”), incorporated in California in 1989, develops, manufactures and markets portable blood analysis 
systems for use in any veterinary or human patient-care setting to provide clinicians with rapid blood constituent 
measurements.  Our primary product is a system consisting of a compact 6.9 kilogram (15 pounds) portable blood analyzer and 
a series of single-use plastic discs, called reagent discs, containing all the chemicals required to perform a panel of up to 13 
tests on veterinary patients and 14 tests on human patients. 

Sales for any future periods are not predictable with a significant degree of certainty.  We generally operate with limited order 
backlog because our products typically are shipped shortly after orders are received.  As a result, product sales in any quarter 
are generally dependent on orders booked and shipped in that quarter.  Our expense levels, which are to a large extent fixed, 
are based in part on our expectations of future revenues.  Accordingly, we may be unable to adjust spending in a timely 
manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall.  As a result, any such shortfall would negatively affect our 
operating results and financial condition.  Our sales may be adversely impacted by pricing pressure from competitors.  Our 
ability to be consistently profitable will depend, in part, on our ability to increase our sales volumes of our VetScan DXS and 
Piccolo products and to compete with other competitors successfully.  We believe that period to period comparisons of our 
results of operations are not necessarily meaningful.  

Results of Operations 

Total Revenues 

The following is a summary of revenues for each group of products and services provided by the Company for fiscal 2005, 
2004 and 2003: 

2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

Instruments 17,203,000$     16,194,000$     10,735,000$     6% 51%
  Percentage of total revenues 33% 35% 31%

Reagent discs and kits 32,921,000       28,144,000       21,893,000       17% 29%
  Percentage of total revenues 62% 60% 63%

Other 2,340,000         2,261,000 1,904,000 3% 19%
  Percentage of total revenues 4% 5% 5%

Product sales, net 52,464,000 46,599,000 34,532,000 13% 35%

Development and licensing revenue 294,000            275,000            248,000            7% 11%

Total revenues 52,758,000$     46,874,000$     34,780,000$     13% 35%

Year Ended March 31, Percentage Change
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Total revenues increased 13% or $5,884,000 from $46,874,000 in fiscal 2004 to $52,758,000 in fiscal 2005.  The growth in 
revenue was due to an increase in instrument sales of 6% or $1,009,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 and an increase in sales 
of our reagent discs and kits of 17% or $4,777,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005.  The increase in revenue from instrument 
sales in fiscal 2005 was primarily in the veterinary market due to improved sales productivity per sales personnel in the United 
States.  The increase in revenue from reagent discs and kits in fiscal 2005 was due to the expanded installed base of our 
instruments.  Product sales in fiscal 2005 were negatively affected by the termination of our relationship with Vedco, Inc. in 
December 2004.  Vedco, Inc., a warehousing cooperative for member distributors who sold Abaxis products to their respective 
customers, accounted for 14% of total revenues in fiscal 2005, compared to 27% of total revenues in fiscal 2004.  The decrease 
in revenue from Vedco was offset by an increase in revenue from other U.S. based regional and national distributors such as 
American Veterinary Supply Corp., DVM Resources, Henry Schein, Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller Veterinary Supply.  
The relationship with Vedco was terminated in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 to realign Abaxis’ distribution channel to 
provide Abaxis with greater visibility to manage based on individual distributor sales forecasts and to offer realistic price 
incentives based on actual distributor sales volumes.   

Revenues by Customer Group: 

The following is a summary of revenues by customer group for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003: 

2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004
Medical Market 8,095,000$          7,119,000$       3,037,000$       14% 134%
  Percentage of total revenues 15% 15% 9%

Veterinary Market 42,806,000          37,875,000       30,313,000       13% 25%
  Percentage of total revenues 81% 81% 87%

Other 1,857,000            1,880,000         1,430,000          (1)% 31%
  Percentage of total revenues 4% 4% 4%

Total revenues 52,758,000$        46,874,000$     34,780,000$     13% 35%

Year Ended March 31, Percentage Change

Medical Market Results  

Revenues from the medical market increased 14% or $976,000 from $7,119,000 in fiscal 2004 to $8,095,000 in fiscal 2005.  
We sold a total of 293 Piccolo systems in fiscal 2005, a 19% decrease from the 363 Piccolo systems sold in fiscal 2004.  
Revenues from the sale of our Piccolo systems decreased 19% or $848,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 primarily due to a 
decrease in sales of our Piccolo systems to the U.S. Military of 25% or $471,000 and a decrease in sales of our Piccolo systems 
in the United States market (excluding the U.S. Military) of 24% or $448,000.  In Asia and Latin America, revenues from the 
sale of our Piccolo systems decreased 80% or $203,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 due to an unexpectedly long process by 
the Japanese regulators to approve the chemistries offered by Abaxis in Japan, which limited the sales of Abaxis products in 
the respective country.  In fiscal 2004, purchases of our Piccolo system by a distributor in Japan were related to initial 
inventory stocking.  In Europe, revenues from the sale of our Piccolo systems increased 98% or $274,000 from fiscal 2004 to 
fiscal 2005 primarily due to the increasing awareness of our medical instruments.   

Revenues from the sale of our reagent discs in the medical market increased 74% or $1,821,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 
2005, as we sold 404,000 reagent discs in fiscal 2005, compared to 218,000 reagent discs sold in fiscal 2004.  The increase in 
revenue from reagent discs was attributed to an increase in unit sales of reagent discs sold to the U.S. Military (total increase in 
absolute dollars of 75% or $921,000) and also to the continued expanded installed base of our Piccolo systems in the United 
States market. 

Veterinary Market Results 

Revenues from the veterinary market increased 13% or $4,931,000 from $37,875,000 in fiscal 2004 to $42,806,000 in fiscal 
2005.  We sold a total of 1,681 VetScan and hematology systems in fiscal 2005, an 11% increase from the 1,514 instruments 
sold in fiscal 2004.  Revenues from the sale of our VetScan and hematology systems increased 16% or $1,857,000, mainly 
from improved sales productivity per sales personnel in the United States.   

Revenues from the sale of our reagent discs and kits increased 12% or $2,956,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005.  We sold 
2,253,000 reagent discs in fiscal 2005, compared to 2,102,000 reagent discs sold in fiscal 2004 and we sold 13,853 
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hematology reagent kits in fiscal 2005, compared to 10,766 hematology reagent kits sold in fiscal 2004.  Overall unit sales of 
reagent discs and kits sold during fiscal 2005 increased due to a higher consumption rate of users and to the expanded installed 
base of our instruments.  In December 2004, we terminated our relationship with Vedco, Inc. as part of the realignment of our 
distribution channel.  During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2005, we worked with other U.S. based regional and 
national distributors, which included American Veterinary Supply Corp., DVM Resources, Henry Schein, IVESCO, 
TradeWinds Trading Company and Western Medical Supply, to expand their sales and services to support the customers 
served by other Vedco distributors.  In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we negotiated direct distributor agreements with Vedco 
members Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller Veterinary Supply. 

Revenues by Geographical Location 

The following is a summary of revenues by geographic region based on customer location for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

United States 45,059,000$     40,232,000$     29,029,000$     12% 39%
  Percentage of total revenues 86% 86% 84%

Europe 5,915,000        4,773,000        3,866,000        24% 23%
  Percentage of total revenues 11% 10% 11%

Asia and Latin America 1,784,000        1,869,000        1,885,000        (5)% (1)%
  Percentage of total revenues 3% 4% 5%

Total revenues 52,758,000$     46,874,000$     34,780,000$     13% 35%

Percentage Change

Total revenues in the United States increased 12% or $4,827,000 from $40,232,000 in fiscal 2004 to $45,059,000 in fiscal 
2005.  The total increase was attributed to an increase in revenue from instrument sales of 8% or $1,076,000.  Revenues from 
the sale of our VetScan and hematology systems increased 21% or $1,995,000 due to improved sales productivity of our 
VetScan and hematology systems per sales personnel in the United States.  The net increase in revenue from instrument sales 
was offset by a decrease of 24% or $919,000 of revenue from the sales of our Piccolo systems, of which sales to the U.S. 
Military decreased by 25% or $471,000.  Revenues from the sale of our reagent discs and hematology reagent kits increased 
15% or $3,664,000 primarily due to the expanded installed base of our instruments.  In December 2004, we terminated our 
relationship with Vedco, Inc. as part of the realignment of our distribution channel.  During the third and fourth quarters of 
fiscal 2005, we worked with other U.S. based regional and national distributors, which included American Veterinary Supply 
Corp., DVM Resources, Henry Schein, IVESCO, TradeWinds Trading Company and Western Medical Supply to expand their 
sales and services to support the customers served by other Vedco distributors.  In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we 
negotiated direct distributor agreements with Vedco members Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller Veterinary Supply. 

In the United States, two distributors, DVM Resources and Vedco, Inc. accounted for 17% and 14%, respectively, of total 
revenues for fiscal 2005, and 16% and 27%, respectively, of total revenues for fiscal 2004.   

Total revenues in Europe increased 24% or $1,142,000 from $4,773,000 in fiscal 2004 to $5,915,000 in fiscal 2005.  Revenues 
from the sale of our Piccolo systems increased 98% or $274,000 due to the increasing awareness of our medical instruments.  
Revenues from the sales of our reagent discs and hematology reagent kits increased 34% or $909,000 due to the expanded 
installed base of our instruments in both the medical and veterinary markets. 

Total revenues in Asia and Latin America decreased 5% or $85,000 from $1,869,000 in fiscal 2004 to $1,784,000 in fiscal 
2005.  Total revenues from the sales of our instruments decreased 35% or $291,000 mainly due to an unexpectedly long 
process by the Japanese regulators to approve the chemistries offered by Abaxis in Japan, which limited the sales of Abaxis 
products in the respective country.  In fiscal 2004, purchases of our Piccolo system by a distributor in Japan were related to 
initial inventory stocking.  Revenues from the sale of our reagent discs and hematology reagent kits increased 20% or 
$204,000 due to a higher consumption rate of institutional users in the veterinary market.   

Currently, we are exploring distribution alternatives in both the veterinary and medical markets.  Our goal for fiscal 2006 is to 
increase instrument sales in both the veterinary and medical markets by allocating resources to product selling and marketing.  
We plan to increase our sales force in both the veterinary and medical markets and offer enhanced incentive programs to retain 
highly skilled sales professionals.  The increase in medical and veterinary reagent discs and hematology kits of 17% or 
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$4,777,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 and 29% or $6,251,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 is consistent with our belief 
that there will be recurring reagent disc revenue as our product lines mature. 

Comparison of Revenues from Fiscal 2003 to Fiscal 2004 

Total revenues increased 35% or $12,094,000 from $34,780,000 in fiscal 2003 to $46,874,000 in fiscal 2004.  The growth in 
revenue was primarily due to an increase in total instrument sales of 51% or $5,459,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 and an 
increase of reagent discs and kits of 29% or $6,251,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004.  Revenues from the medical market 
increased by $4,082,000 from $3,037,000 in fiscal 2003 to $7,119,000 in fiscal 2004.  Revenues from the veterinary market 
increased by $7,562,000 from $30,313,000 in fiscal 2003 to $37,875,000 in fiscal 2004.   

The increase in revenues from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 was attributable to increased unit sales of our medical and veterinary 
reagent discs and hematology kits due to a higher consumption rate of users and to the expanded installed base of our Piccolo 
and VetScan systems.  In September 2003, we completed and released the developments of the Renal Function, Hepatic 
Function and Comprehensive Metabolic Panels, which are key Piccolo medical panels which, together with existing panels, 
completes the full array of the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services reimbursement panels.  In February 2004, we 
received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) market clearance for our magnesium assay for use in the Piccolo blood 
chemistry analyzers.   

Cost of Product Sales 

2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

  Cost of product sales 24,811,000$     22,966,000$     17,755,000$     8% 29%
  Percentage of total revenues 47% 49% 51%

Year Ended March 31, Percentage Change

Cost of product sales includes the costs associated with manufacturing, assembly, package, warranty repairs, test and quality 
assurance for our instruments and reagent discs and manufacturing overhead, including costs of personnel and equipment 
associated with manufacturing support.  The decrease in cost of product sales as a percent of revenue from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 
2005 was due to the lower unit costs of hematology reagents and the lower unit costs of manufacturing reagent discs resulting 
from improved manufacturing processes and absorption of fixed costs of our facility.  The decrease in cost of product sales as 
a percent of revenue from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 was attributable to increases in sales volume of reagent discs and lower 
unit costs resulting from improved manufacturing processes and absorption of fixed costs of our facility. 

The increases in cost of product sales in absolute dollars from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 and from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 
were primarily attributed to the increase in instrument sales of 6% or $1,009,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 and 51% or 
$5,459,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 and to the increase in sales of reagent discs and kits of 17% or $4,777,000 from 
fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 and 29% or $6,251,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expense 

2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

  Selling, general and administrative 15,701,000$     14,431,000$     11,564,000$     9% 25%
  Percentage of total revenues 30% 31% 33%

Year Ended March 31, Percentage Change

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and benefits, commissions and related expenses for personnel 
engaged in marketing, advertising, costs associated with promotional and other marketing expenses, customer service and 
technical service and general corporate functions, including accounting, human resources and legal.  Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased 9% or $1,270,000 from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005 primarily due to an increase in legal 
expenses of $395,000 and expenses relating to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance of $929,000. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 25% or $2,867,000 from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 primarily due to 
increased expenses of $841,000 devoted to sales and marketing resources in the medical market and $1,410,000 devoted to 
sales and marketing resources in the veterinary market.  
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Selling, general and administrative activities accounted for 30%, 31% and 33% of total revenues during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 
2003.  We anticipate the dollar amount of selling, general and administrative expenses to increase in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 
2005 but remain consistent as a percentage of total revenues due to our plan to increase our sales force and offer incentive 
programs to retain highly skilled sales professionals.   

Research and Development 

2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

Research and development 5,150,000$    4,757,000$     3,888,000$     8% 22%
Percentage of total revenues 10% 10% 11%

Year Ended March 31, Percentage Change

Research and development expenses consist of salaries and benefits, related expenses associated with the development of 
clinical trials of new test methods and the enhancement of existing products.  Research and development expenses increased 
by 8% or $393,000 in fiscal 2005 from fiscal 2004 and 22% or $869,000 in fiscal 2004 from fiscal 2003 primarily due to new 
product development in both the medical and veterinary markets.  

Research and development activities accounted for 10%, 10% and 11% of total revenues during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003.  
We anticipate the dollar amount of research and development expenses to increase in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005 but remain 
consistent as a percentage of total revenues, as we complete new products in both the medical and veterinary markets.  There 
can be no assurance, however, that we will undertake such research and development activities in future periods or, if we do, 
that such activities will be successful. 

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net 

The following table sets forth our interest and other income (expense), net for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2004 to 2005 2003 to 2004

Interest and other income 302,000$       173,000$       217,000$       75% (20)%
Interest and other expense (33,000)          (68,000)          (149,000)        (51)% (54)%

269,000$       105,000$       68,000$         156% 54%

Percentage Change

Interest and Other Income 

Interest and other income primarily consist of interest earned on cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.  The 
increase of 75% or $129,000 in fiscal 2005 from fiscal 2004 was primarily due to higher average invested balances.  The 
decrease of 20% or $44,000 in fiscal 2004 from fiscal 2003 was due to lower interest rates obtained on our cash, cash 
equivalents and short-term investments. 

Interest and Other Expense 

Interest and other expense primarily consist of interest incurred on our capital lease, equipment financing loan, co-promotion 
agreement with Abbott Laboratories and net loss on disposal of equipment.  The decrease in interest expense in fiscal 2005 
from fiscal 2004 and in fiscal 2004 from fiscal 2003 was primarily due to the reduced balances on our capital lease and 
repayment of our equipment loan in March 2004. 
 
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)  

2005 2004 2003

Income tax provision (benefit) 2,514,000$       (19,208,000)$     5,000$            

Year Ended March 31,

For fiscal 2005, the income tax provision was $2,514,000, based on an effective tax rate of 34%, which was based on federal 
and state statutory rates, reduced by benefits from research and development credits and foreign sales activity.  In fiscal 2004, 
the income tax benefit totaled $19,208,000, which included a one-time income tax benefit of $19,450,000 related to existing 
deferred tax assets (principally net operating loss carryforwards) because we concluded that it is more likely than not that these 
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assets will be realized.  Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, these deferred tax assets had been fully reserved.  The 
$19,450,000 income tax benefit is partially offset by a current tax provision of $242,000 related to taxes for various state tax 
jurisdictions and federal alternative minimum tax for fiscal 2004.  For fiscal 2003, the income tax expense totaled $5,000, 
which primarily related to taxes for various state tax jurisdictions.  We expect our effective tax rate will be approximately 36% 
for federal and various state tax jurisdictions in the near term. 

Preferred Dividends and Accretion 

2005 2004 2003

Preferred dividends and accretion -$                 419,000$           1,235,000$     

Year Ended March 31,

 
In October 2003, under the terms of our respective Certificates of Determination with respect to both the Series D Preferred 
Stock and Series E Preferred Stock, all outstanding shares of the Series D Preferred and the Series E Preferred automatically 
converted into shares of common stock after twenty consecutive trading days where the per share closing price of our common 
stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market exceeded $14.00 and $12.00, respectively.  Consequently, we have 
eliminated our obligation to pay an ongoing annual dividend to the holders of the Series D Preferred and Series E Preferred.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As of March 31, 2005, we had $22,634,000 in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as compared to $17,322,000 
at March 31, 2004.   

Year Ended March 31, Increase/
2005 2004 (Decrease)

Cash and cash equivalents 5,776,000$        9,324,000$        (3,548,000)$        
Short-term investments 16,858,000        7,998,000          8,860,000            

22,634,000$      17,322,000$      5,312,000$          

Cash provided (used) in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 as follows: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Cash provided by operating activities 6,321,000$     7,198,000$     3,525,000$     
Cash (used in) investing activities (11,344,000)   (10,029,000)   (1,157,000)     
Cash provided by financing activities 1,475,000       1,725,000       3,964,000       
  Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,548,000)$   (1,106,000)$   6,332,000$     

Operating Activities – During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, we generated $6,321,000 of cash from operating 
activities compared to $7,198,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004.  This change was primarily the result of net 
income of $4,851,000 adjusted for the effects of non-cash expenses including depreciation and amortization of $1,896,000, 
stock option income tax benefits of $608,000, an increase in current net deferred tax assets of $4,068,000 and a decrease in 
non-current net deferred tax assets of $5,592,000.   

Trade Receivables – Our gross trade receivable balance was $10,991,000 and $8,459,000 as of March 31, 2005 and March 31, 
2004, respectively.  The increase in our trade receivable balance was primarily due to a higher increase in sales in the last 
month of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004.  

Inventories – Inventories increased to $8,355,000 as of March 31, 2005 from $5,736,000 as of March 31, 2004, primarily 
related to purchases due to a higher projected sales volume. 

Current Net Deferred Tax Assets – Current net deferred tax assets increased to $4,677,000 as of March 31, 2005 from 
$609,000 as of March 31, 2004, as a result of anticipated utilization of net operating losses on projected income for fiscal 
2006. 
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Non-current Net Deferred Tax Assets – Non-current net deferred tax assets decreased to $15,032,000 as of March 31, 2005 
from $20,624,000 as of March 31, 2004, as a result of utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in fiscal 2005 and 
anticipated utilization of net operating losses for fiscal 2006. 

Accounts Payable – Accounts payable increased to $3,850,000 as of March 31, 2005 from $2,721,000 as of March 31, 2004, 
related to inventory purchases due to a higher projected sales volume.   

Accrued Payroll and Related Expenses – Accrued payroll and related expenses decreased to $1,867,000 as of March 31, 2005 
from $2,853,000 as of March 31, 2004, due to a reduction in accrued bonus at March 31, 2005 since qualifiers for bonus 
payments were not met in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Other Accrued Liabilities – Other accrued liabilities increased to $828,000 as of March 31, 2005 from $319,000 as of March 
31, 2004, related to an increase in income taxes payable and other accrued expenses related to professional services. 

Deferred Revenue – The current portion of deferred revenue increased to $907,000 as of March 31, 2005 from $264,000 as of 
March 31, 2004 and the non-current portion of deferred revenue increased to $1,146,000 as of March 31, 2005 from $474,000 
as of March 31, 2004, as a result of incentives in the form of free goods given to customers. 

Net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2004 was $7,198,000.  This was primarily the result of net income of 
$24,033,000 offset by the effects of non-cash expenses including depreciation and amortization of $1,708,000, common stock 
issued for employee benefits plan of $73,000, stock-based compensation of $24,000, stock option income tax benefits of 
$1,902,000 and an increase in total net deferred tax assets of $21,233,000.  Additional cash was generated from a decrease of 
$355,000 in prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets; increases of $637,000 in accounts payable; $1,042,000 in accrued 
payroll and related expenses; $88,000 in deferred rent; and $42,000 in deferred revenue.  Uses of cash from operating 
activities included increases totaling $1,437,000 in trade receivables and inventories; and a decrease of long-term commission 
obligation of $36,000.   

Net income in fiscal 2004 included a one-time income tax benefit of $19,450,000 related to existing deferred tax assets 
(principally net operating loss carryforwards) because we concluded that it is more likely than not that these assets will be 
realized.  Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the net deferred tax assets had been fully reserved.  The increase in trade 
receivable of $720,000 is primarily due to sales made in the last month of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004.  The increase in 
inventory of $717,000, which mainly consists of finished reagent discs, is primarily due to higher sales forecast.   

We anticipate that we will incur incremental additional costs to support our future operations, including further 
commercialization of our products and development of new test methods that will allow us to expand our veterinary market 
and further penetrate the human medical market; additional pre-clinical testing and clinical trials for our current and future 
products; acquisition of capital equipment for our manufacturing facility, which includes the ongoing costs related to 
continuing development of our current and future products; and research and design costs related to the continuing 
development of our current and future products.  

We anticipate that our existing capital resources, available line of credit and anticipated revenue from the sales of our products 
will be adequate to satisfy our currently planned operating and financial requirements through at least the next twelve months.  
Our future capital requirements will largely depend upon the increased market acceptance of our point-of-care blood analyzer 
products.  However, our sales for any future periods are not predictable with a significant degree of certainty.  Regardless, we 
may seek to raise additional funds to leverage our internal expansion into the human medical market or pursue strategic 
acquisition opportunities. 

Investing Activities – Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2005 was $11,344,000.  The cash used in fiscal 2005 was 
primarily due to purchases of $16,787,000 in short-term investments consisting of corporate obligations, U.S. Treasury and 
Agency securities and various certificate of deposits offset by the maturities of various certificate of deposits totaling 
$7,998,000 that were purchased in fiscal 2004.  Cash used in investing activities also included purchases of property and 
equipment of $2,562,000, primarily to support both our increased product demand and our goal of more efficient production 
lines, as well as our new product introduction. 

Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2004 was $10,029,000.  This primarily included purchases of $7,998,000 in 
short-term investments consisting of various certificate of deposits.  Cash used in investing activities also included purchases 
of $1,281,000 in property and equipment and $750,000 of intellectual property relating to patents.   

We anticipate that we will continue to purchase property and equipment necessary in the normal course of our business.   
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Financing Activities – Net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2005 was $1,475,000, which primarily consisted of 
proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $810,000 and warrants of $687,000. 

Net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2004 was $1,725,000, which included $2,716,000 of proceeds from the 
exercise of stock options and warrants, offset by repayments of $991,000 on our equipment financing loan and capital leases.  
In March 2004, we paid off the outstanding balance of our equipment financing loan of $933,000. 

Preferred Stock – In October 2003, under the terms of our respective Certificate of Determination with respect to both the 
Series D Preferred Stock (the “Series D Preferred”) and Series E Preferred Stock (the “Series E Preferred”), the Series D 
Preferred and the Series E Preferred automatically converted into shares of common stock after twenty consecutive trading 
days where the per share closing price of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market exceeded $14.00 and 
$12.00, respectively.  Elective conversions, coupled with the automatic conversion of all remaining outstanding Series E 
Preferred Stock, resulted in the conversion of 5,570 shares of Series E Preferred Stock into 856,907 shares of common stock 
during fiscal 2004.  Elective conversions, coupled with the automatic conversion of all remaining outstanding Series D 
Preferred Stock, resulted in the conversion of 6,508 shares of Series D Preferred Stock into 929,699 shares of common stock 
during fiscal 2004.  Consequently, we have eliminated our obligation to pay an ongoing annual dividend that the holders of the 
Series D Preferred and Series E Preferred would have otherwise received in either cash or shares of our common stock. 

Line of Credit – We have established a line of credit with Comerica Bank-California which provides for borrowings of up to 
$2,000,000.  The line of credit terminates upon notification by either party and the outstanding balance is payable upon 
demand.  The line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate minus 0.25%, which totaled 5.50% at March 31, 2005, and is 
payable monthly.  Of the $2,000,000 available, $410,000 was committed to secure a letter of credit for our facilities lease at 
March 31, 2005.  At March 31, 2005, there was no amount outstanding under our line of credit.  The weighted average interest 
rate on the line of credit during fiscal 2005 and 2004 was 4.45% and 3.92%, respectively.  

The line of credit agreement contains certain financial covenants, which are evaluated on a quarterly basis.  Included in these 
financial covenants, among other stipulations, is a requirement that we have a minimum net income of $25,000 before 
preferred stock dividends and accretion in any three quarters of a fiscal year, provided that any loss before preferred stock 
dividends and accretion on preferred stock incurred in the remaining quarter is not to exceed $250,000.  We are also required 
to be profitable, as defined, on a fiscal year to date basis beginning with the six month period ended September 30, 2004 and to 
have net income before preferred stock dividends and accretion on preferred stock of $1,150,000 for the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2005.  In addition, we are required to have a quick ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.00 to 1.00, cash flow 
coverage, as defined, of not less than 1.25 to 1.00, debt to net worth ratio, as defined, not greater than 1.00 to 1.00 and to 
maintain a tangible effective net worth, as defined, of not less than $25,731,000.  At March 31, 2005, we were in compliance 
with these covenants. 

Borrowings under the line of credit are collateralized by our net book value of assets of $61.7 million at March 31, 2005 
including our intellectual property. 

Critical Accounting Policies - We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and the 
understanding of our results of operations.  The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business 
operations are discussed below.  For a more detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see 
the Notes to Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  The preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenues from product sales, net of estimated sales allowances and rebates, are recognized upon shipment when a purchase 
order has been received, the sales price is fixed and determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably 
assured.  The Company periodically provides incentives in the form of free goods to customers in connection with the sale of 
its products.  Revenue from such sales is allocated separately to the instruments and free goods based on the relative fair value 
of each element.  Revenue allocated to free goods is deferred until the goods are shipped to the customer.  Rights of return are 
not provided and provisions are made at the time the related revenue is recognized for the estimated future costs to be incurred 
under initial standard warranty obligations of one year.  Revenues received for, or allocated to extended warranty 
arrangements are recognized ratably over the related warranty period.  Instrument revenues under cross-distribution 
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agreements (where we and another party purchase each other’s products for resale) are recognized upon sale of the products to 
the end user.  Development and licensing revenue is recognized in accordance with the related contract terms.   

We make estimates to adjust revenues for estimated sales allowances and rebates based on historical data and terms of current 
promotions, including cash rebates and trade-in programs in which we issue credit to customers as incentives for purchasing 
our products.  Although we believe these estimates are reliable, it is possible that actual allowance or rebate amounts realized 
could vary from our estimates and that the amounts of such differences could affect our operating results. 

Reserves and Accruals 

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts based on our assessment of the collectibility of amounts owed us by customers 
which is mostly determined by the customer’s payment history and the outstanding period of accounts.  In addition, we provide 
provisions for the estimated future costs to be incurred under our standard warranty obligations of one year.  Actual amounts 
realized could vary from our estimates and affect our operating results. 

Income Taxes 

As of March 31, 2005, we had net deferred tax assets of $19,709,000 primarily resulting from net operating loss carryforwards 
("NOLs"), which consist of $43,373,000 of federal NOLs that expire at various dates from fiscal years 2006 through 2021, and 
$6,677,000 of California NOLs that expire at various dates from fiscal years 2006 through 2011.  At March 31, 2005, the 
Company maintained a valuation allowance of $678,000 relating to federal research and development tax credits which expire 
in fiscal years 2006 through 2008.  We will continue to evaluate our deferred tax assets in the future to determine whether a 
deferred tax asset valuation allowance is required at some future point. 

Contractual Obligations 

As of March 31, 2005, we have the following outstanding contractual obligations: 

At March 31, 2005, there was no outstanding balance on our line of credit with Comerica Bank-California.  The line of credit 
terminates upon notification by either party and the outstanding balance is payable upon demand.   In connection with our 
facility lease agreement, we have established a letter of credit for $410,000, which is secured by our line of credit.   

We lease our principal facility and certain office equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements, which expire on 
various dates through fiscal 2011.  The future minimum payments under our capital and operating leases at March 31, 2005 are 
as follows: 

Capital Operating 
Leases Leases

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,  
   2006 17,000$               1,003,000$          
   2007 -                          1,058,000            
   2008 -                          1,096,000            
   2009 -                          1,123,000            
   2010 -                          1,134,000            
   Thereafter -                          875,000               
Total minimum lease payments 17,000                 6,289,000$          
Less amounts representing interest (9.9%) 1,000                   
Present value of minimum lease payments 16,000$               

 

Purchase Commitments 

In November 2003, we entered into an OEM agreement with Diatron Messtechnik GmbH (DIATRON) of Austria to purchase 
DIATRON hematology instruments.  Under the terms of the agreement, we are committed to purchase a minimum number of 
hematology units from DIATRON once the product was qualified for sale.  Qualification occurred in May 2004 and 
accordingly, we have minimum purchase commitments.  As of March 31, 2005, the outstanding commitment for fiscal 2006 
through 2009 was $1,461,000, $2,791,000, $2,792,000 and $2,792,000, respectively. 
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Contingencies 

We are from time to time involved in various litigation matters in the normal course of business.  While the outcome of these 
proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not 
have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements –  

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable 
Interest Entities,” in January 2003, and a revised interpretation of FIN 46 (“FIN 46-R”) in December 2003.  FIN 46 requires 
certain variable interest entities (“VIEs”) to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in 
the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity 
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  The provisions of FIN 46 are 
effective immediately for all arrangements entered into after January 31, 2003.  Since January 31, 2003, we have not invested 
in any entities that we believe are variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary.  The adoption of FIN 46-
R in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 did not have an impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards issued to employees using the intrinsic value measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (Opinion 25).  
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recorded for stock options granted with exercise prices greater than or equal 
to the fair value of the underlying common stock at the option grant date.  On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 
123R”).  SFAS 123R eliminates the alternative of applying the intrinsic value measurement provisions of Opinion 25 to stock 
compensation awards issued to employees.  Rather, the new standard requires enterprises to measure the cost of employee 
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award.  That cost 
will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for the award, known 
as the requisite service period (usually the vesting period). 

 
The Company has not yet quantified the effects of the adoption of SFAS 123R, but it is expected that the new standard may 
result in significant stock-based compensation expense.  The pro forma effects on net income and earnings per share if we had 
applied the fair value recognition provisions of the original SFAS 123 on stock compensation awards (rather than applying the 
intrinsic value measurement provisions of Opinion 25) are disclosed in Note 1 to the Financial Statements.  Although such pro 
forma effects of applying the original SFAS 123 may be indicative of the effects of adopting SFAS 123R, the provisions of 
these two statements differ in some important respects.  The actual effects of adopting SFAS 123R will be dependent on 
numerous factors including, but not limited to, the valuation model we choose to value stock-based awards; the assumed award 
forfeiture rate; the accounting policies adopted concerning the method of recognizing the fair value of awards over the 
requisite service period; and the transition method (as described below) chosen for adopting SFAS 123R.   
 
SFAS 123R will be effective for our first quarter of fiscal 2007, which begins April 1, 2006, and requires the use of the 
Modified Prospective Application Method.  Under this method SFAS 123R is applied to new awards and to awards modified, 
repurchased, or cancelled after the effective date.  Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the 
requisite service has not been rendered (such as unvested options) that are outstanding as of the date of adoption shall be 
recognized as the remaining requisite services are rendered.  The compensation cost relating to unvested awards at the date of 
adoption shall be based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calculated for pro forma disclosures under the original 
SFAS 123.  In addition, companies may use the Modified Retrospective Application Method.  This method may be applied to 
all prior years for which the original SFAS 123 was effective or only to prior interim periods in the year of initial adoption.  If 
the Modified Retrospective Application Method is applied, financial statements for prior periods shall be adjusted to give 
effect to the fair-value-based method of accounting for awards on a consistent basis with the pro forma disclosures required for 
those periods under the original SFAS 123. 

 
In March 2004, the EITF reached a final consensus on Issue 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and 
its Application to Certain Investments,” to provide additional guidance in determining whether investment securities have an 
impairment which should be considered other-than-temporary.  The adoption of Issue 03-01 did not have an effect on 
operating results or financial condition. 
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RISK FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT OUR PERFORMANCE 

 Our future performance is subject to a number of risks.  If any of the following risks actually occur, our business 
could be harmed and the trading price of our common stock could decline.  

When used in these risk factors, the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “future,” and 
similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.  Our actual results could differ materially from those that we project 
in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that we have set forth throughout this document as well as factors of 
which we are currently not aware.  

We Have Not Been Consistently Profitable; We Must Increase Sales Of Our Piccolo And VetScan DXS Products To 
Maintain Consistent Profitability  

 We recognized a net loss attributable to common shareholders in two of the last twelve fiscal quarters ended March 
31, 2005.  There can be no assurance that we will experience profitability in the future.  As of March 31, 2005, we have 
incurred cumulative net losses of $33 million.  Our ability to be consistently profitable will depend, in part, on our ability to 
increase our sales volumes of our Piccolo and VetScan DXS products.  Increasing the sales volume of our products will 
depend upon our ability to:  

 • continue to develop our products;  

 • increase our sales and marketing activities;  

 • effectively manage our manufacturing activities; and  

 • effectively compete against current and future competitors. 

 We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully increase our sales volumes of our products to achieve 
sustained profitability.  

We Are Not Able To Predict Sales In Future Quarters And A Number Of Factors Affect Our Periodic Results  

 We are not able to accurately predict our sales in future quarters.  Our revenue in the veterinary market are derived 
primarily by selling to distributors who resell our products to the ultimate user.  In December 2004, we terminated our 
relationship with Vedco, Inc., a warehousing cooperative for member distributors who sold Abaxis products to their respective 
customers, as part of the realignment of our distribution channel.  During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2005, we 
worked with other U.S. based regional and national distributors, which included American Veterinary Supply Corp., DVM 
Resources, Henry Schein, IVESCO, TradeWinds Trading Company and Western Medical Supply, to expand their sales and 
services to support the customers served by other Vedco distributors.  In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we negotiated direct 
distributor agreements with Vedco members Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller Veterinary Supply.   

 While we are better able to predict sales of our reagent discs, as we sell these discs primarily for use with blood 
chemistry analyzers that we sold in prior periods, we generally are unable to predict with much certainty sales of our analyzers, 
as we typically sell our analyzers to new users.  Accordingly, our sales in any one quarter are not indicative of our sales in any 
future period.  In addition, we generally operate with limited order backlog, because we ship our products shortly after we 
receive the orders from our customers.  As a result, our product sales in any quarter are generally dependent on orders that we 
receive and ship in that quarter.  We base our expense levels, which are to a large extent fixed, in part on our expectations as to 
future revenues.  We may be unable to reduce our spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue 
shortfall.  As a result, any such shortfall would immediately materially and adversely impact our operating results and financial 
condition.  In addition, we have historically experienced a decrease in our sales, especially in Europe, in our second and third 
quarters, ending in September and December of each year, which we believe is due to seasonal patterns in the decision making 
processes to acquire our products.  Accordingly, we believe that period to period comparisons of our results of operations are 
not necessarily meaningful. 

Our periodic operating results have varied in the past.  In the future, we anticipate our periodic operating results to 
vary significantly depending on, but not limited to, a number of factors, including, in addition to those factors discussed 
elsewhere in this section:  

• new product announcements made by us or our competitors; 
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• changes in our pricing structures or the pricing structures of our competitors; 

• our ability to develop, introduce and market new products on a timely basis; 

• our manufacturing capacities and our ability to increase the scale of these capacities; 

• the mix of product sales between our analyzer and our reagent disc products;  

• the amount we spend on research and development; and 

• changes in our strategy. 

We Could Fail to Achieve Anticipated Revenue If The Market Does Not Accept Our Products 

Our core compact blood chemistry analyzer product differs substantially from current blood chemistry analyzers on 
the market.  Our primary competition is from centralized laboratories that offer a greater number of tests than our products, but 
do so at a greater cost and requiring more time.  We also compete with other point-of-care analyzers that cost more, require 
more maintenance and offer a narrower range of tests.  However, these point-of-care analyzers are generally marketed by 
larger companies which have greater resources for sales and marketing, in addition to a recognized brand name and established 
distribution relationships.  

Historically we have marketed our VetScan analyzer to veterinarians and we have relatively limited experience in 
large scale sales of our Piccolo analyzer into the human medical market.  We continue to develop new animal blood tests that 
we cannot be assured will be accepted by the veterinary market.  Although we believe that our blood analyzers offer 
consumers many advantages, including according to our analyses substantial cost savings, in terms of the actual product and 
implementation of it procedurally, these advantages involve changes to current standard practices, such as using large clinical 
laboratories, that will require changes in both the procedures and mindset of care providers.  The human medical market in 
particular is highly regulated, structured, difficult to penetrate and often slow to adopt new product offerings.  If we are unable 
to convince large numbers of medical clinics, hospitals and other point-of-care environments of the benefits of our products, 
we will suffer lost sales and could fail to achieve anticipated revenue. 

We are Dependent Upon Our Profitability, and If We Cannot Remain Profitable We May Need Additional Funding In 
The Future And These Funds May Not Be Available To Us 

       We believe that our existing capital resources, available line of credit and anticipated revenue from the sales of our 
products will be adequate to satisfy our currently planned operating and financial requirements through March 31, 2006, 
although no assurances can be given.  The bank financing documents for our available line of credit contain a number of 
covenants concerning financial tests that we must meet that are more fully detailed in the agreements that we have filed with 
the SEC as exhibits to our periodic reports.  We may need additional funds if we are unable to meet requirements for 
continuing access to bank financing or if we do not achieve anticipated revenues from the sale of our Piccolo and VetScan 
products. 

 Further, we expect to incur incremental additional costs to support our future operations, including:  

• further commercialization of our products and development of new test methods to allow us to further penetrate the 
human diagnostic market and the veterinary diagnostic market; 

• our need to acquire capital equipment for our manufacturing facilities, which includes the ongoing implementation of 
our semi-automated manufacturing lines to provide capacity for the production of commercial volumes of our 
products; 

• research and design costs related to the continuing development of our current and future products; and 

• additional pre-clinical testing and clinical trials for our current and future products. 

To the extent that our existing resources and anticipated revenue from the sale of our products are insufficient to fund 
our activities or if we are unable to meet the financial tests contained in our bank financing documents, we may have to raise 
additional funds from the issuance of public or private securities.  In the event that we cannot maintain compliance with the 
financial covenants of our bank financing agreements, we may also be subject to increased interest rate expenses.  We may not 
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be able to raise additional funding, or if we are able to, we may not be able to raise funding on acceptable terms.  We may also 
dilute then-existing shareholders if we raise additional funds by issuing new equity securities.  Alternately, we may have to 
relinquish rights to certain of our technologies, products and/or sales territories if we are required to obtain funds through 
arrangements with collaborative partners.  If we are unable to raise needed funds, we may be required to curtail our operations 
significantly.  This would materially adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. 

We Rely On Patents And Other Proprietary Information, The Loss Of Any Of Which Would Negatively Affect Our 
Business  

 As of March 31, 2005, 33 patent applications have been filed on behalf of Abaxis with the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office, of which 29 have been issued.  Additionally, we have filed several international patent applications 
covering the same subject matter as our domestic applications.  The patent position of any medical device manufacturer, 
including Abaxis, is uncertain and may involve complex legal and factual issues.  Consequently, we may not be issued any 
additional patents, either domestically or internationally.  Furthermore, our patents may not provide significant proprietary 
protection because there is a chance that they will be circumvented or invalidated.  We cannot be certain that we were the first 
creator of the inventions covered by our issued patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file patent 
applications for these inventions, because (1) the United States Patent and Trademark Office maintains all patent applications 
that are not filed in any foreign jurisdictions in secrecy until it issues the patents (unless a patent application owner files a 
request for publication) and (2) publications of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature tend to lag behind actual 
discoveries by several months.  We may have to participate in interference proceedings, which are proceedings in front of the 
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, to determine who will be issued a patent.  These proceedings could be costly and could be 
decided against us. 

We also rely upon copyrights, trademarks and unpatented trade secrets.  Others may independently develop 
substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques that would undermine our proprietary technologies.  Further, 
others may gain access to our trade secrets or disclose such technology.  Although we require our employees, consultants and 
advisors to execute agreements that require that our corporate information be kept confidential and that any inventions by these 
individuals are property of Abaxis, there can be no assurance that these agreements will provide meaningful protection or 
adequate remedies for our trade secrets in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information.  The unauthorized 
dissemination of our confidential information would negatively impact our business. 

We Continue to Develop Our Marketing And Distribution Experience In the Human Diagnostic Market 

 Although we have gained experience marketing our VetScan system products in the veterinary diagnostic market, we 
have much less experience in marketing the Piccolo system in the human diagnostic market.  Accordingly, we have limited 
sales, marketing and distribution experience, especially in the human diagnostic market.  We cannot assure you that:  
  

• we will be able to establish and maintain effective distribution arrangements in the human medical market;  

• any distribution arrangements that we are able to establish will be successful in marketing our products; or    

• the costs associated with marketing and distributing our products will not be excessive.  

 Should we fail to effectively develop our marketing and distribution efforts, our growth will be limited and our results 
of operations will be adversely affected. 

We May Inadvertently Produce Defective Products, Which May Subject Us to Significant Warranty Liabilities or 
Product Liability Claims And We May Have Insufficient Product Liability Insurance 

   Our business exposes us to potential warranty and product liability risks which are inherent in the testing, 
manufacturing and marketing of human and veterinary medical products.  We strive to apply sophisticated methods to raw 
materials and produce defect-free medical test equipment.  Although we have established procedures for quality control on 
both the raw materials that we receive from suppliers and our manufactured final products, these procedures may prove 
inadequate to detect a defect that either occurs in limited quantities or that we have not anticipated.  We believe that our 
Piccolo and VetScan systems detect the vast majority of errors that occur on our reagent discs and automatically reject such 
tests, prompting the medical provider to retest the patient.  However, our Piccolo and VetScan systems may be unable to detect 
errors which could result in the misdiagnosis of human or veterinary patients. 
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  Should we inadvertently ship defective products, we may be subject to substantial claims under our warranty policy 
or product liability law.  In addition, our policy is to credit medical providers for any defective product that we produce, 
including those reagent discs that are rejected by our Piccolo and VetScan systems.  Therefore, even if a mass defect within a 
lot or lots of reagent discs were detected by our Piccolo and VetScan systems, our need to replace such reagent discs free of 
charge would materially harm our financial condition.  Further, in the event that a product defect is not detected by our Piccolo 
system, our relatively recent expansion into the human medical market greatly increases the risk that the amount of damages 
involved with just one product defect would be material to our operations.  We currently maintain limited product liability 
insurance that we believe is adequate for our needs, taking into account the risks involved and cost of coverage.  However, our 
product liability insurance and cash may be insufficient to cover potential liabilities.  In addition, in the future the coverage 
that we require may be unavailable on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.  Even with our current insurance coverage, a 
mass product defect, product liability claim or recall would materially adversely affect our business or our financial condition. 

Many of Our Sales Force Have Been Employed by Us for Less Than One Year And We Must Effectively Train And 
Integrate Our Sales Team In Order To Achieve Our Anticipated Revenue 

At March 31, 2005, we had thirty-five full-time sales personnel involved in our sales and marketing activities, many 
of whom have been employed by us for a limited period of time.  While these individuals work with our distribution partners 
both domestically and internationally to extend our market reach, the primary selling activities are often done by these 
individuals.  If we are to increase our sales, we will need to train new salespeople and supervise them closely.  We also will 
continue hiring additional sales personnel.  If we are unable to retain our existing personnel, or attract and train additional 
qualified personnel, our growth may be limited due to our lack of capacity to market our products. 

We Need to Successfully Manufacture and Market Additional Reagent Discs For The Human Diagnostic Market If We 
Are To Compete In That Market 

  We have developed a blood analysis system that consists of a portable blood analyzer and single-use reagent discs.  
Each reagent disc performs a series of standard blood tests.  We believe that it is necessary to develop additional series of 
reagent discs with various tests for use with the Piccolo and VetScan systems.  Historically, we primarily developed reagent 
discs suitable for the veterinary diagnostic market.  Since 2003, we have received 510(k) clearance from the U.S. Food and 
Drug Administration to begin selling tests, namely high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL), magnesium assay, phosphorus 
assay and triglycerides, for the human diagnostic market.  These tests are included in standard tests for which the medical 
community receives reimbursements from third party payors such as HMOs and Medicare.  We may not be able to 
successfully manufacture or market these newly developed reagent discs.  Our failure to meet these challenges will materially 
adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. 

We Rely On Distributors To Sell Our Products; We Rely On Sole Distributor Arrangements In A Number Of 
Countries 

 We distribute our products primarily through distributors.  As a result, we are dependent upon these distributors to 
sell our products and to assist us in promoting and creating a demand for our products.  We have a number of distributors in 
the United States who distribute our VetScan products.  Two distributors, DVM Resources and Vedco, Inc., accounted for 
17% and 14% of total revenues for fiscal 2005, and 16% and 27%, respectively, of total revenues for fiscal 2004.  In 
December 2004, we terminated our relationship with Vedco, Inc., a warehousing cooperative for member distributors who sold 
Abaxis products to their respective customers, as part of the realignment of our distribution channel.  During the third and 
fourth quarters of fiscal 2005, we worked with other U.S. based regional and national distributors, which included American 
Veterinary Supply Corp., DVM Resources, Henry Schein, IVESCO, TradeWinds Trading Company and Western Medical 
Supply, to expand their sales and services to support the customers currently served by other Vedco distributors.  In the third 
quarter of fiscal 2005, we negotiated direct distributor agreements with Vedco members Merritt Veterinary Supply and Miller 
Veterinary Supply.  We believe that our future growth depends, in part, on the efforts of these distributors.   

If one of our distributors were to stop selling our products, we may not be able to replace such lost revenue.  We 
operate on a purchase order basis with the distributors and the distributors are under no contractual obligation to continue 
carrying our products.  Further, many of our distributors may carry our competitors’ products, and may promote our 
competitors’ products over our own products.  Finally, we do not have at this time distribution partners in the United States 
who distribute our products for the human medical market.  Internationally, we have a few distributors for our products in both 
the human and veterinary diagnostic markets, which includes one distributor in Japan who is in the process of obtaining the 
required approvals for sales of Abaxis products in the respective countries.   
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We currently have distributors for our products in the following countries:  Australia, Austria, Bahrain, Belgium, 
Canada, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Kuwait, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, 
Russia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom and the United States.  Our 
distributor in each of these countries is responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals to sell our products.  These 
distributors may not be successful in obtaining proper approvals for our products in their respective countries, and they may 
not be successful in marketing our products.  We plan to continue to enter into additional distributor relationships to expand 
our international distribution base and solidify our international presence.  However, we may not be successful in entering into 
additional distributor relationships.  Our distributors may terminate their relationship with us at any time.  Historically, we 
have experienced a high degree of turnover among our international distributors.  This high degree of turnover makes it 
difficult for us to establish a steady distribution network overseas.  Consequently, we may not be successful in marketing our 
Piccolo and VetScan DXS products internationally.  

We Depend On Sole Suppliers For Several Key Components To Our Products, Many of Whom We Have Not Entered 
Into Contractual Relationships With 

 We use several key components that are currently available from limited or sole sources as discussed below: 

• Reagent Discs:  Two injection molding manufacturers, C. Brewer & Co. and Nypro Oregon, Inc., currently make the 
molded plastic discs which, when loaded with reagents and welded together, form our reagent disc products.  We 
believe that only a few manufacturers are capable of producing these discs to the narrow tolerances that we require; to 
date, we have only qualified these two manufacturers, with Nypro Oregon, Inc. being qualified at two separate 
facilities, to manufacture the molded plastic discs.   

• Reagent Chemicals:  We currently depend on the following single source vendors for some of the chemicals that we 
use to produce the dry reagent chemistry beads that are either inserted in our reagent discs or sold as a stand-alone 
product:  Amano Enzyme USA Co., Ltd., Genzyme Corporation, Kikkoman Corporation Biochemical Division, 
Microgenics Corporation, Roche Molecular Biochemicals of Roche Diagnostics Corporation, a division of F. 
Hoffmann-La Roche, Ltd., Shinko American Inc. and Sigma Aldrich Inc.   

• Blood Analyzer Components:  Our analyzer products use several technologically advanced components that we 
currently purchase from two single source vendors, PerkinElmer, Inc. and Electro Alliance, Inc.  Our analyzers use a 
printer that is only made by Seiko North America Corporation.  The loss of the supply of any of these components 
could force us to redesign our analyzers.  

• Hematology Instrument and Reagents:  We purchase the HMII instruments from DIATRON of Austria.  To date, we 
have qualified two suppliers to produce the reagents for the hematology instruments:  Mallinckrodt Baker BV and 
Clinical Diagnostic Solutions, Inc. 

For our hematology instruments purchased from Diatron, we are subject to minimum purchase requirements through 
fiscal 2009.  We operate on a purchase order basis with all of the suppliers of our molded plastic reagent discs, reagent 
chemicals and blood analyzer components and thus these suppliers are under no contractual obligation to supply us with their 
products or to do so at specified prices.  Although we believe that there are potential alternate suppliers available for these 
critical components, to date we have not qualified additional vendors beyond those referenced above.  

 Because we are dependent on a limited number of suppliers and manufacturers for critical components to our 
products, we are particularly susceptible to any interruption in the supply of these products or the viability of our assembly 
arrangements.  The loss of any one of these suppliers or a disruption in our manufacturing arrangements could materially 
adversely affect our business and financial condition.  

We Compete With Larger, Better Established Entities Such As Hospitals And Commercial Laboratories 

 Blood analysis is a well established field in which there are a number of competitors that have substantially greater 
financial resources and larger, more established marketing, sales and service organizations than we do.  We compete with the 
following organizations: 

• commercial clinical laboratories;  

• hospitals’ clinical laboratories; and  
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• manufacturers of bench top multi-test blood analyzers and other testing systems that health care providers can use 
“on-site.” 

We May Not Be Able To Compete With These Organizations Or Their Products Or With Future Organizations Or 
Future Products 

 Historically, hospitals and commercial laboratories perform the most human diagnostic testing, and commercial 
laboratories perform the most veterinary medical testing.  We have identified five principal factors that customers typically use 
to evaluate our products and those of our competitors.  These factors are:   

• range of tests offered;     

• the immediacy of results;     

• cost effectiveness;  

• ease of use; and  

• reliability of results.  

We believe that we compete effectively on each of these factors except for the range of tests offered.  Clinical 
laboratories are effective at processing large panels of tests using skilled technicians and complex equipment.  While our 
current offering of reagent discs cannot provide the same broad range of tests, we believe that in certain limited markets our 
products provide a sufficient breadth of test menus to compete successfully with clinical laboratories given the advantages of 
our products with respect to the other four factors.  However, we cannot assure you that we will continue to be able to compete 
effectively on cost effectiveness, ease of use, immediacy of results or reliability of results.  We also cannot assure you that we 
will ever be able to compete effectively solely on the basis of range of tests offered. 

Competition in the human and veterinary diagnostic markets is intense.  Our principal competitors in the human 
diagnostic market are Alfa Wassermann S.P.A., Elan Diagnostics, Hemagen Diagnostics, Inc., i-STAT Corporation (which 
was purchased by Abbott Laboratories), Johnson & Johnson (including its subsidiary, Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics, Inc.), 
Novitron International, Inc., Polymedco and Roche.  Our principal competitors in the veterinary diagnostic market are Idexx 
Laboratories, Inc. and Heska Corporation.  Most of our competitors have significantly greater financial and other resources 
than we do.  In particular, many of our competitors have large sales forces and well-established distribution channels.  
Consequently, we must develop our distribution channels and improve our direct sales force in order to compete in these 
markets. 

Changes In Third Party Payor Reimbursement Regulations Can Negatively Affect Our Business 

 By regulating the maximum amount of reimbursement they will provide for blood testing services, third party payors, 
such as HMOs, pay-per-service insurance plans, Medicare and Medicaid, can indirectly affect the pricing or the relative 
attractiveness of our human testing products.  For example, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) sets the 
level of reimbursement of fees for blood testing services for Medicare beneficiaries.  If third party payors decrease the 
reimbursement amounts for blood testing services, it may decrease the amount that physicians and hospitals are able to charge 
patients for such services.  Consequently, we will need to charge less for our products.  If the government and third party 
payors do not provide for adequate coverage and reimbursement levels to allow health care providers to use our products, the 
demand for our products will decrease. 

We Are Subject To Numerous Governmental Regulations  

• Need for FDA Certification for Our Medical Device Products 

 Our Piccolo products are regulated under the 1976 Medical Device Amendments to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic 
Act, which is administered by the Food and Drug Administration.  The FDA has classified our Piccolo products as “Class I” 
and “Class II” devices.  These classifications require us to submit to the FDA a pre-market notification form or 510(k).  The 
FDA uses the 510(k) to substantiate product claims that are made by medical device manufacturers prior to marketing.  In our 
510(k) notification, we must, among other things, establish that the product we plan to market is “substantially equivalent” to 
(1) a product that was on the market prior to the adoption of the 1976 Medical Device Amendment or (2) to a product that the 
FDA has previously cleared under the 510(k) process.  The FDA review process of a 510(k) notification can last anywhere 
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from three to six months, and the FDA must issue a written order finding “substantial equivalence” before a company can 
market a medical device.  To date, we have received market clearance from the FDA for our Piccolo system and 23 reagent 
tests that we have on ten reagent discs, with the addition of General Chemistry 13 in the third quarter of fiscal 2005.  We are 
currently developing additional tests that the FDA will have to clear through the 510(k) notification procedures.  These new 
test products are crucial for our success in the human diagnostic market.  If we do not receive 510(k) clearance for a particular 
product, we will not be able to sell that product in the United States. 

• Need to Comply with Manufacturing Regulations 

 The 1976 Medical Device Amendment also requires us to manufacture our Piccolo products in accordance with Good 
Manufacturing Practices guidelines.  Current Good Manufacturing Practice requirements are set forth in the 21 CFR 820 
Quality System Regulation.  These requirements regulate the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the 
design, manufacture, packaging, storage, installation and servicing of our medical devices intended for human use.  Our 
manufacturing facility is subject to periodic inspections.  In addition, various state regulatory agencies may regulate the 
manufacture of our products.  For example, we have obtained a license from the State of California to manufacture our 
products.  In April 2001, the State of California Food and Drug Branch granted our manufacturing facility “in compliance” 
status, based on the regulations for Good Manufacturing Practices for medical devices.  In May 2001, the State of California 
Food and Drug Branch granted licensing for our new Union City facility.  The most recent inspection was in March 2003 
when the U.S. FDA conducted a facility inspection and verified our compliance with the 21 CFR 820 Regulation.  We cannot 
assure you that we will successfully pass a re-inspection by the FDA or the State of California.  In addition, we cannot assure 
you that we can comply with all current or future government manufacturing requirements and regulations.  If we are unable to 
comply with the regulations, or if we do not pass routine inspections, our business and results of operations will be materially 
adversely affected. 

• Effects of the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments on Our Products 

  Our Piccolo products are affected by the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988.  The Clinical 
Laboratory Improvement Amendments are intended to insure the quality and reliability of all medical testing in the United 
States regardless of where tests are performed.  The current Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments divide laboratory 
tests into three categories:  “simple,” “moderately complex” and “highly complex.”  Tests performed using the Piccolo system 
are in the “moderately complex” category.  This category requires that any location in which testing is performed be certified 
as a laboratory.  Hence, we can only sell our Piccolo products to customers who meet the standards of a laboratory.  To receive 
“laboratory” certification, a testing facility must be certified by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.  After the 
testing facility receives a “laboratory” certification, it must then meet the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments 
regulations.  Because we can only sell our Piccolo products to testing facilities that are certified “laboratories,” the market for 
our products is correspondingly constrained.   

In July 2004, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) granted our first waived status under CLIA regulations 
for our lipids test panel when used in conjunction with our Piccolo point of care analyzer.  Waived status permits untrained 
personnel to run the Piccolo using the Lipid Panel and, thus, extending the sites (doctors’ offices and other point-of-care 
environments) that can use the Piccolo.  Currently, a second petition is under evaluation by the FDA for our Lipid Panel Plus 
disc.  This disc includes total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, glucose, and the liver enzymes, ALT and AST.  We 
cannot assure you that we will successfully receive the waived status from the FDA on this second disc or for other products.  
Consequently, the market for our Piccolo products may be confined to those testing facilities that are certified as “laboratories” 
and our growth will be limited accordingly.   

•  We Are Subject to Various Federal, State, Local, and International Regulations 

Federal and state regulations regarding the manufacture and sale of health care products and diagnostic devices may 
change.  In addition, as we continue to sell in foreign markets, we may have to obtain additional governmental clearances in 
those markets.  For example, in December 2003, we received certification from the British Standards Institute to the ISO 
13485:1996 quality system standard for medical devices.  This quality system certification, along with successful completion 
of product testing to current European standards and the translation of Piccolo product documentation into the required 
languages, enabled us to meet the compliance requirements of the CE Mark and the current European In Vitro Device 
Directive.  We cannot predict what impact, if any, such current or future regulatory changes would have on our business.  We 
may not be able to obtain regulatory clearances for our products in the United States or in foreign markets, and the failure to 
obtain these regulatory clearances will materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.  
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Although we believe that we will be able to comply with all applicable regulations of the Food and Drug 
Administration and of the State of California, including the Quality System Regulation, current regulations depend on 
administrative interpretations.  Future interpretations made by the Food and Drug Administration, the Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services (CMS) or other regulatory bodies may adversely affect our business.    

We Depend On Key Members Of Our Management And Scientific Staff, And We Must Retain And Recruit Qualified 
Individuals If We Are To Be Competitive 

 We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management and scientific staff.  The loss of any of these 
key personnel, including in particular Clinton H. Severson, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board 
of Directors, might impede the achievement of our business objectives.  Mr. Severson’s amended and restated employment 
agreement with us was filed with the SEC on August 14, 2001 as an exhibit to our quarterly report for the quarter ended June 
30, 2001.  We are not aware of any member of our executive management team who intends to retire within one year of the 
date of this filing.  We currently do not maintain key man life insurance on any of our employees.  Although historically we 
have been relatively successful both in retaining our current management and scientific staff and attracting and retaining 
skilled and experienced marketing, sales and manufacturing personnel, we may not be able to employ such personnel on 
acceptable terms in the future because numerous medical products and other high technology companies compete for the 
services of these qualified individuals. 

Standards For Compliance With Section 404 Of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002 Are Complex, And If We Are Unable 
To Maintain An Effective Internal Control Over Our Financial Reporting, Our Business Could Be Harmed And Our 
Stock Price Could Decline  

       Rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 require an annual assessment of our internal control over financial reporting by management of the Company, and 
attestation of our assessment by our independent registered public accountants.  The standards that must be met for 
management to assess the internal control over financial reporting as effective are new and complex, and require significant 
documentation, testing and possible remediation to meet the detailed standards.  Our management assessed the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, and this assessment identified a material weakness in our 
internal control over financial reporting.  Discussion of this weakness is summarized in “Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures” 
of this report.  Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in our implementation 
could harm our operating results or prevent us from accurately reporting our financial results or cause us to fail to meet our 
reporting obligations in the future.  If we cannot assess our internal control over financial reporting as effective, or our 
independent registered public accountants are unable to provide an unqualified attestation report on such assessment, investor 
confidence and share value may be negatively impacted. 

Legislative Actions, Higher Insurance Cost And Potential New Accounting Pronouncements Are Likely To Cause Our 
General And Administrative Expenses To Increase And Impact Our Future Financial Position And Results Of 
Operations 

  In order to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as changes to Nasdaq listing standards and proposed 
accounting changes by the Securities and Exchange Commission, we will be required to enhance our internal controls, hire 
additional personnel and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services, all of which will cause our general 
and administrative costs to increase.  Insurers are also likely to increase premiums as a result of the high claims rates incurred 
over the past year, and so our premiums for our various insurance policies, including our directors’ and officers’ insurance 
policies, are likely to increase. 

As a Result of New Requirements Relating to Accounting Treatment For Employee Stock Options, We May Be Forced 
to Change Our Business Practices  

We currently account for the issuance of stock options under APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees.”  On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”).  The new standard requires us to treat the value of 
the stock options granted to employees as a compensation expense.  In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
amended the compliance dates and, accordingly, we will be required to record an expense for our stock-based compensation 
plans using the fair value method beginning on April 1, 2006.  As a result, we may decide to reduce the number of stock 
options granted to employees or to grant options to fewer employees.  This could affect our ability to retain existing employees 
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and attract qualified candidates and increase the cash compensation we would have to pay to them.  In addition, such a change 
would have a negative effect on our earnings. 

We Must Comply With Strict And Potentially Costly Environmental Regulations 

  We are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and policies that govern the use, 
generation, manufacture, storage, air emission, effluent discharge, handling and disposal of certain materials and wastes.  In 
particular, we are subject to laws, rules and regulations governing the handling and disposal of biohazardous materials used in 
the development and testing of our products.  We handle and dispose of human and veterinary blood samples for testing 
(whole blood, plasma, serum) and we paid approximately $64,000 in fiscal 2005 to comply with applicable environmental 
regulations.  Although we believe that we have complied with applicable laws and regulations in all material respects and have 
not been required to take any action to correct any noncompliance, we may have to incur significant costs to comply with 
environmental regulations if our manufacturing to commercial levels continues to increase.  In addition, if a government 
agency determines that we have not complied with these laws, rules and regulations, we may have to pay significant fines 
and/or take remedial action that would be expensive and we do not carry environmental-related insurance coverage.   

System Failures Or Delays May Harm Our Business And Our Facilities And Manufacturing Operations Are 
Vulnerable To Natural Disasters And Other Unexpected Losses 

 Our success depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our manufacturing operations, which are co-
located with our corporate headquarters in Union City, California.  A failure of manufacturing operations, be it in the 
development and manufacturing of our Piccolo or VetScan analyzers or the reagent discs used in the analyzers could result in 
our inability to supply customer demand. 

We do not have a backup facility to provide redundant manufacturing capacity in the event of a system failure.  
Accordingly, if our Union City location experienced a system failure, or regulatory problem that temporarily shut-down our 
manufacturing facility, our manufacturing ability would become unavailable until we were able to bring an alternative facility 
online, a process which could take several weeks or even months.  These manufacturing operations are also vulnerable to 
damage from earthquakes, fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins and similar events.  Although we 
carry property and business interruption insurance, our coverage may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may 
occur.  Additionally, our computer servers may be vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and similar 
disruptions. 

Fluctuations In Foreign Exchange Rates And The Possible Lack Of Financial Stability In Foreign Countries Could 
Prevent Overseas Sales Growth 

  Our international sales are overwhelmingly currently U.S. dollar-denominated.  As a result, an increase in the value of 
the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies could make our products less competitive in international markets.  For the limited 
amount of our sales denominated in local currencies, we are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar 
and the particular local currency.  Our operating results could also be adversely affected by the seasonality of international 
sales and the economic conditions of our overseas markets. 

Our Stock Price Is Highly Volatile And Investing In Our Stock Involves A High Degree Of Risk 

 The market price of our common stock, like the securities of many other medical products companies, fluctuates over 
a wide range, and will continue to be highly volatile in the future.  During the past two years, our stock price closed at a high 
of $22.80 on January 26, 2004 and a low of $3.66 on April 8, 2003 and April 17, 2003.  The following factors may affect the 
market price of our common stock: 

• fluctuation in our operating results;  

• announcements of technological innovations or new commercial products by us or our competitors; 

• changes in governmental regulation;  

• prospects and proposals for health care reform;  

• governmental or third party payors’ controls on prices that our customers may pay for our products; 
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• developments or disputes concerning patent or our other proprietary rights;  

• public concern as to the safety of our devices or similar devices developed by our competitors; and  

• general market conditions.  

Because our stock price is so volatile, investing in our common stock is highly risky.  A potential investor must be 
able to withstand the loss of his entire investment in our common stock. 

Our Shareholders Rights Plan And Our Ability To Issue Preferred Stock May Delay Or Prevent A Change Of Control 
Of Abaxis 

Our Shareholder Rights Plan, adopted by our Board of Directors on April 22, 2003 may make it more difficult for a 
third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from attempting to acquire, control of Abaxis.  The Shareholder Rights Plan 
could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. 

In addition, our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to 
determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further 
vote or action by the shareholders, except to the extent required by NASDAQ rules.  The issuance of preferred stock, while 
providing flexibility in connection with possible financings or acquisitions or other corporate purposes, could have the effect 
of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. 

Item  7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

We are exposed to financial market risks with respect to interest rates on our line of credit, cash equivalent and short-term 
investments. 

For our line of credit, which provides for borrowings of up to $2,000,000, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate 
minus 0.25%, which totaled 5.50% at March 31, 2005.  Consequently, an increase in the prime rate would expose us to higher 
interest expenses.  At March 31, 2005, there was no amount outstanding on our line of credit.  

At March 31, 2005, our short-term investments totaled $16,858,000, consisting of corporate obligations, U. S. Treasury and 
Agency securities and various certificate of deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of purchase.  Our short-
term investment objective is to maximize yields without significantly increased risk.   

As a matter of management policy, we do not currently enter into transactions involving derivative financial instruments.  In 
the event we do enter into such transactions in the future, such items will be accounted for in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” in which case we 
will formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking such hedge transactions. 
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ITEM  8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004 

Statements of Operations for the Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003  

Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

Notes to Financial Statements 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Abaxis, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Abaxis, Inc. (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the 
related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended March 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index to this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K at Part IV Item 15 (a) 2. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Abaxis, Inc. as of 
March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
March 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our 
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, 
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on the criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission and our report dated June 13, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting because of a material weakness. 

/s/   DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

San Jose, California 

June 13, 2005 
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ABAXIS,  INC.
BALANCE  SHEETS

 
March 31,

ASSETS 2005 2004
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,776,000$     9,324,000$     
Short-term investments 16,858,000     7,998,000       
Trade receivables (net of allowances of $482,000 in 2005 and $257,000 in 2004) 10,509,000     8,202,000       
Inventories 8,355,000       5,736,000       
Prepaid expenses 282,000          384,000          
Net deferred tax asset - current 4,677,000       609,000          
           Total current assets 46,457,000     32,253,000     

Property and equipment, net 8,824,000       8,191,000       
Intangible assets, net 600,000          675,000          
Deposits and other assets 96,000            155,000          
Net deferred tax asset - non-current 15,032,000     20,624,000     

Total assets 71,009,000$   61,898,000$   
                                  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'  EQUITY                                   
Current liabilities:                                   

Accounts payable 3,850,000$     2,721,000$    
Dividends payable -                     28,000            
Accrued payroll and related expenses 1,867,000       2,853,000       
Other accrued liabilities 828,000          319,000          
Warranty reserve 245,000          181,000          
Deferred revenue 907,000          264,000          
Current portion of capital lease obligations 16,000            22,000            
           Total current liabilities 7,713,000       6,388,000       

Capital lease obligations, less current portion -                     16,000            
Deferred rent 462,000          409,000          
Deferred revenue, less current portion 1,146,000       474,000          
Commission obligation, less current portion 21,000            39,000            

           Total non-current liabilities 1,629,000       938,000          

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Common stock, no par value: authorized shares - 35,000,000; 
issued and outstanding shares - 19,891,607 in 2005 and 19,520,237 in 2004 94,614,000     92,441,000     
Accumulated deficit (33,018,000)    (37,869,000)    
Accumulated other comprehensive income 71,000            -                     

           Total shareholders' equity 61,667,000     54,572,000     
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 71,009,000$   61,898,000$   

See notes to financial statements.
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ABAXIS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2005 2004 2003
Product sales, net 52,464,000$               46,599,000$               34,532,000$               
Development and licensing revenue 294,000                      275,000                      248,000                      
Total revenues 52,758,000                 46,874,000                 34,780,000                 

                             
Costs and operating expenses:                              
  Cost of product sales 24,811,000                 22,966,000                 17,755,000                 
  Selling, general and administrative 15,701,000                 14,431,000                 11,564,000                 
  Research and development 5,150,000                   4,757,000                   3,888,000                   
Total costs and operating expenses 45,662,000                 42,154,000                 33,207,000                 

Income from operations 7,096,000                   4,720,000                   1,573,000                   
Interest and other income 302,000                      173,000                      217,000                      
Interest and other expense (33,000)                      (68,000)                      (149,000)                    
Income before income taxes 7,365,000                   4,825,000                   1,641,000                   
Income tax provision (benefit) 2,514,000                   (19,208,000)               5,000                          
Net income 4,851,000                   24,033,000                 1,636,000                   
Preferred dividends and accretion (a) -                                 (419,000)                    (1,235,000)                 
Net income attributable to common shareholders 4,851,000$                 23,614,000$               401,000$                    

Basic net income per share 0.25$                          1.30$                          0.02$                          

Diluted net income per share 0.22$                          1.16$                          0.02$                          
                             

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 19,696,299                 18,128,181                 16,634,447                 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 21,662,485                 20,387,167                 17,014,313                 

Year Ended March 31,

 

(a) For fiscal 2005 and 2004, includes preferred dividends of $0 and $419,000, respectively.  For fiscal 2003, includes 
preferred dividends of $865,000 and a non-cash preferred dividend charge of $370,000 related to the beneficial conversion 
feature contained in the Company's Series E Preferred Stock issued in April 2002.  

 

See notes to financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other

Convertible Preferred Stock Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders' Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Deficit Income Equity Income

Balances at April 1, 2002 6,558            3,193,000$                16,339,735      76,843,000$       (61,884,000)$     -$                               18,152,000$                 -$                               
Option exercises and related tax benefits -                 -                              131,642        377,000           -                       -                               377,000                      -                               
Accrued dividends on Series D convertible preferred stock -                 -                              -                    -                       (456,000)           -                               (456,000)                     -                               
Accrued dividends on Series E convertible preferred stock -                 -                              -                    -                       (409,000)           -                               (409,000)                     -                               
Common stock issued for dividends payable -                 -                              35,654          230,000           -                       -                               230,000                      -                               
Adjustment on issuance cost for Series D convertible preferred stock -                 -                              -                    (29,000)            -                       -                               (29,000)                       -                               
Conversion of Series D convertible preferred stock into common stock (50)              (50,000)                   7,142            50,000             -                       -                               -                                 -                               
Conversion of Series E convertible preferred stock into common stock -                 -                              276,922        1,800,000         -                       -                               1,800,000                   -                               
Amounts related to Series E convertible preferred stock issuance: -                                 
     Proceeds allocated to common stock warrants -                 -                              -                    590,000           -                       -                               590,000                      -                               
     Non cash issuance costs-common stock warrants issued to advisors -                 -                              -                    216,000           -                       -                               216,000                      -                               
     Common stock issued related to issuance costs -                 -                              25,000          145,000           -                       -                               145,000                      -                               
     Beneficial conversion feature, net of deemed dividend and accretion -                 -                              -                    370,000           (370,000)           -                               -                                 -                               
Stock-based compensation expense -                 -                              -                    16,000             -                       -                               16,000                        -                               
Components of comprehensive income:
   Net income -                 -                              -                    -                       1,636,000          -                               1,636,000                   1,636,000                 
   Comprehensive income -                 -                              -                    -                       -                       -                               1,636,000                 

Balances at March 31, 2003 6,508            3,143,000                 16,816,095      80,608,000         (61,483,000)       -                                 22,268,000                   
Option exercises and related tax benefits -                 -                              281,640        3,122,000         -                       -                               3,122,000                   -                               
Warrant exercises -                 -                              497,498        1,569,000         -                       -                               1,569,000                   -                               
Accrued dividends on Series D convertible preferred stock -                 -                              -                    -                       (238,000)           -                               (238,000)                     -                               
Accrued dividends on Series E convertible preferred stock -                 -                              -                    -                       (181,000)           -                               (181,000)                     -                               
Common stock issued for dividends payable -                 -                              138,398        799,000           -                       -                               799,000                      -                               
Conversion of Series D convertible preferred stock into common stock (6,508)         (3,143,000)              929,699        3,143,000         -                       -                               -                                 -                               
Conversion of Series E convertible preferred stock into common stock -                 -                              856,907        3,176,000         -                       -                               3,176,000                   -                               
Stock-based compensation expense -                 -                              -                    24,000             -                       -                               24,000                        -                               
Components of comprehensive income:
   Net income -                 -                              -                    -                       24,033,000        -                               24,033,000                 24,033,000               
   Comprehensive income -                 -                              -                    -                       -                       -                               24,033,000               

Balances at March 31, 2004 -                   -                                19,520,237      92,441,000         (37,869,000)       -                                 54,572,000                   
Option exercises and related tax benefits -                 -                              185,086        1,418,000         -                       -                               1,418,000                   -                               
Warrant exercises -                 -                              184,944        687,000           -                       -                               687,000                      -                               
Common stock issued for dividends payable -                 -                              1,340            28,000             -                       -                               28,000                        -                               
Stock-based compensation expense -                 -                              -                    40,000             -                       -                               40,000                        -                               
Components of comprehensive income:
   Net income -                 -                              -                    -                       4,851,000          -                               4,851,000                   4,851,000                 
   Unrealized gain on investments -                 -                              -                    -                       -                       71,000                      71,000                        71,000                      
   Comprehensive income -                 -                              -                    -                       -                       -                               4,922,000                 
Balances at March 31, 2005 -                   -$                              19,891,607      94,614,000$       (33,018,000)$     71,000$                      61,667,000$                 

Common Stock

STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ABAXIS,  INC.
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ABAXIS, INC.
STATEMENTS  OF  CASH  FLOWS

2005 2004 2003
Operating activities:
  Net income 4,851,000$       24,033,000$     1,636,000$       
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:                                                    
    Depreciation and amortization 1,896,000         1,708,000         1,634,000         
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of property and equipment 14,000              -                        (10,000)             
    Stock option income tax benefits 608,000            1,902,000         -                        
    Common stock issued for employee benefit plans -                        73,000              197,000            
    Stock-based compensation, including amortization of 
      deferred stock compensation 40,000              24,000              16,000              
    Adjustment for issuance cost on Series D convertible preferred stock -                        -                        (29,000)             
    Changes in assets and liabilities:
      Trade receivables (2,307,000)        (720,000)           (558,000)           
      Inventories (2,614,000)        (717,000)           600,000            
      Prepaid expenses 102,000            283,000            (191,000)           
      Net deferred tax assets - current (4,068,000)        (609,000)           -                        
      Deposits and other assets 59,000              72,000              (120,000)           
      Net deferred tax assets - non-current 5,592,000         (20,624,000)      -                        
      Accounts payable 1,211,000         637,000            170,000            
      Accrued payroll and related expenses (986,000)           1,042,000         371,000            
      Warranty reserve and other accrued liabilities 573,000            -                        (189,000)           
      Deferred rent 53,000              88,000              123,000            
      Deferred revenue 1,315,000         42,000              (104,000)           
      Long-term commission obligation (18,000)           (36,000)           (21,000)             
        Net cash provided by operating activities 6,321,000       7,198,000       3,525,000         
Investing activities:
  Purchase of short-term investments (16,787,000)      (7,998,000)        -                        
  Maturities of short-term investments 7,998,000         -                        -                        
  Purchase of property and equipment (2,562,000)        (1,281,000)        (1,168,000)        
  Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 7,000                -                        11,000              
  Purchase of intangible assets -                      (750,000)         -                       
        Net cash used in investing activities (11,344,000)    (10,029,000)    (1,157,000)        
Financing activities:
  Repayment of equipment financing -                        (933,000)           (467,000)           
  Borrowings under line of credit -                        -                        1,000,000         
  Repayment of line of credit -                        -                        (3,000,000)        
  Repayment of capital lease obligations (22,000)             (58,000)             (104,000)           
  Net cash proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, Series E -                        -                        6,812,000         
  Exercise of common stock options 810,000            1,147,000         180,000            
  Exercise of common stock warrants 687,000            1,569,000         -                        
  Dividends paid -                      -                       (457,000)           
        Net cash provided by financing activities 1,475,000       1,725,000       3,964,000         
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,548,000)        (1,106,000)        6,332,000         
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,324,000       10,430,000     4,098,000         
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,776,000$      9,324,000$      10,430,000$     

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
  Cash paid for interest 16,000$           58,000$           146,000$          
  Taxes paid 130,000$         211,000$         5,000$              
Noncash financing activities - 
  Preferred stock dividends and accretion -$                     419,000$         778,000$          
  Issuance of common stock for conversion of preferred stock and 
        payment of dividends payable 28,000$           12,877,000$    2,080,000$       
  Warrants and options issued for services and issuance costs -$                     -$                      361,000$          
  Unrealized gain on short-term investments 71,000$           -$                      -$                     

Year Ended March 31,
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ABAXIS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 

 
1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Abaxis, Inc. (“the Company”) was incorporated in California in 1989 for the purpose of developing, manufacturing and 
marketing portable blood analysis systems for use in any veterinary or human patient-care setting to provide clinicians with 
rapid blood constituent measurements. 

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Such management 
estimates include trade receivables allowances, certain accruals, warranty reserves and a valuation allowance for net deferred 
tax assets.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties - The Company operates in a dynamic industry, and accordingly, can be affected 
by a variety of factors.  For example, management of the Company believes that changes in any of the following areas could 
have a negative effect on the Company in terms of its future financial position and results of operations: ability to obtain 
additional financing; continued Federal Drug Administration compliance or regulatory changes; uncertainty regarding health 
care reforms; fundamental changes in the technology underlying blood testing; the ability to develop new products that are 
accepted in the marketplace; competition, including, but not limited to pricing and products or product features and services; 
litigation or other claims against the Company; the adequate and timely sourcing of inventories; and the hiring, training and 
retention of key employees. 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments - Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of money market accounts 
and short-term financial instruments with original maturities of less than 90 days from the date of acquisition that are readily 
convertible into cash.  The Company's short-term investments consist of various certificate of deposits, corporate obligations 
and U.S. Treasury and Agency securities with maturities of one year or less from the date of purchase.   

Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and trade receivables.  Cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments are placed with high quality financial institutions and are regularly monitored by management.   

The Company sells its products primarily to organizations in Europe, Japan and in the United States.  The Company monitors 
the credit status of its customers on an ongoing basis and generally does not require its customers to provide collateral for 
purchases on credit.  The Company maintains allowances for estimated bad debt losses.  At March 31, 2005, two distributors 
accounted for 25% and 12%, respectively, of trade receivables.  At March 31, 2004, two distributors accounted for 30% and 
25%, respectively, of trade receivables.  

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.   

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost.  Depreciation and amortization are generally provided 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (two to five years).  Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the related lease term.  No interest was capitalized on constructed 
assets during fiscal 2005 and 2004.   
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Valuation of Long-lived Assets - The carrying value of the Company’s long-lived assets is reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may not be recoverable.  The Company looks to current and future 
profitability, as well as current and future undiscounted cash flows, excluding financing costs, as primary indicators of 
recoverability.  An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the undiscounted future net cash flows expected to 
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposal is less than the carrying amount.  If impairment is determined to exist, 
any related impairment loss is calculated based on fair value.  The Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which did not impact its results of operations or financial position. 

Other Intangible Assets - Intangible assets, consisting of patents, are amortized using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of ten years.  See Note 5. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - Financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, customer 
receivables, accounts payable and certain other accrued liabilities.  The carrying values of all other financial instruments 
approximate fair value. 

Revenue Recognition – Revenues from product sales, net of estimated sales allowances and rebates, are recognized upon 
shipment when a purchase order has been received, the sales price is fixed and determinable and collection of the resulting 
receivable is reasonably assured.  The Company periodically provides incentives in the form of free goods to customers in 
connection with the sale of its products.  Revenue from such sales is allocated separately to the instruments and free goods 
based on the relative fair value of each element.  Revenue allocated to free goods is deferred until the goods are shipped to the 
customer.  Rights of return are not provided and provisions are made at the time the related revenue is recognized for the 
estimated future costs to be incurred under initial standard warranty obligations of one year.  Revenues received for, or allocated 
to extended warranty arrangements are recognized ratably over the related warranty period.  Instrument revenues under cross-
distribution agreements (where the Company and another party purchase each other’s products for resale) are recognized upon 
sale of the products to the end user.  Development and licensing revenue is recognized in accordance with the related contract 
terms. 

Research and Development – Research and development costs, including internally generated software costs, are expensed as 
incurred and include expenses associated with new product research and regulatory activities.  The Company’s products include 
certain software applications that are resident in the product.  The costs to develop such software have not been capitalized as 
the Company believes its current software development process are completed concurrent with the establishment of 
technological feasibility of the software. 

Advertising Expenses – Costs of advertising, which also includes promotional expenses, are expensed as incurred.  Advertising 
expenses for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $1,122,000, $1,062,000 and $831,000, respectively.  

Shipping and Handling  – The cost of shipping products to customers is included in cost of goods sold.  Amounts billed to a 
customer in a sale transaction related to shipping and handling are classified as revenue.   

Income Taxes – The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 
Taxes.”  Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled.  Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the 
amounts to be recovered. 

Stock-Based Compensation - The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method in 
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”) 
and other related guidance.  Stock-based awards to consultants and other non-employees are accounted for based upon estimated 
fair values in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation.”  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS No. 123), requires 
the disclosure of pro forma net income and net income per share as if the Company had adopted the fair value method.  Under 
SFAS No. 123, the fair value of stock-based awards to employees is calculated through the use of option pricing models, even 
though such models were developed to estimate the fair value of freely tradable, fully transferable options without vesting 
restrictions, which significantly differ from the Company’s stock option awards.  These models also require subjective 
assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time to exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values.  
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Had compensation cost been recognized based on the fair value at the grant date, the Company’s net income and basic and 
diluted net income per share would have been as follows: 

2005 2004 2003

Net income:
  As reported 4,851,000$           24,033,000$         1,636,000$         
Less stock-based compensation expense determined under the
fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects (2,671,000)          (1,538,000)          (1,202,000)          
  Pro forma net income 2,180,000$           22,495,000$         434,000$           

Basic and diluted net income per share:
  As reported - basic 0.25$                    1.30$                     0.02$                 
  Pro forma - basic 0.11$                    1.24$                     0.03$                 

  As reported - diluted 0.22$                    1.16$                     0.02$                 
  Pro forma - diluted 0.10$                    1.10$                     0.03$                 

Year Ended March 31,

 

The Company’s calculations were made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on a multiple option valuation 
approach, and forfeitures were recognized as they occurred.  The following are the weighted average assumptions: 

2005 2004 2003
Expected life of option 6 years 6 years 6 years
Risk-free interest rate 3.63-4.29 % 2.78-3.53 % 3.17 %
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %
Volatility 52-60 % 58-61 % 62 %

Year Ended March 31,

 

Net Income Per Share Information - Basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net income attributable to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding.  Diluted net income per share is 
computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares that 
would have been outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all dilutive potential common 
shares outstanding.  See Note 12. 

Comprehensive Income - Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income, which comprised of 
unrealized gains on investments. 

For fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, the components of comprehensive income consisted of the following: 

2005 2004 2003
Net income 4,851,000$          24,033,000$        1,636,000$          
Other comprehensive income:
   Unrealized gain on investments 71,000                 -                           -                           
Comprehensive income 4,922,000$          24,033,000$        1,636,000$          

Year Ended March 31,

Accumulated other comprehensive income is comprised of unrealized gains on short-term investments. 

New Accounting Pronouncements - The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 
46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” in January 2003, and a revised interpretation of FIN 46 (“FIN 46-R”) in 
December 2003.  FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities (“VIEs”) to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the 
entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have 
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  
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The provisions of FIN 46 are effective immediately for all arrangements entered into after January 31, 2003.  Since January 31, 
2003, the Company has not invested in any entities it believes are variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary 
beneficiary.  The adoption of FIN 46-R in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 did not have an impact on the financial position, results 
of operations or cash flows of the Company. 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards issued to employees using the intrinsic value measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (Opinion 25).  
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recorded for stock options granted with exercise prices greater than or equal to 
the fair value of the underlying common stock at the option grant date.  On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 
123R”).  SFAS 123R eliminates the alternative of applying the intrinsic value measurement provisions of Opinion 25 to stock 
compensation awards issued to employees.  Rather, the new standard requires enterprises to measure the cost of employee 
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award.  That cost will 
be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for the award, known as the 
requisite service period (usually the vesting period). 

The Company has not yet quantified the effects of the adoption of SFAS 123R, but it is expected that the new standard may 
result in significant stock-based compensation expense.  The pro forma effects on net income and earnings per share if the 
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of the original SFAS 123 on stock compensation awards (rather than 
applying the intrinsic value measurement provisions of Opinion 25) are disclosed above.  Although such pro forma effects of 
applying the original SFAS 123 may be indicative of the effects of adopting SFAS 123R, the provisions of these two statements 
differ in some important respects.  The actual effects of adopting SFAS 123R will be dependent on numerous factors including, 
but not limited to, the valuation model chosen by the Company to value stock-based awards; the assumed award forfeiture rate; 
the accounting policies adopted concerning the method of recognizing the fair value of awards over the requisite service period; 
and the transition method (as described below) chosen for adopting SFAS 123R.   

SFAS 123R will be effective for the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2007, which starts April 1, 2006, and requires the use of 
the Modified Prospective Application Method.  Under this method SFAS 123R is applied to new awards and to awards 
modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the effective date.  Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which 
the requisite service has not been rendered (such as unvested options) that are outstanding as of the date of adoption shall be 
recognized as the remaining requisite services are rendered.  The compensation cost relating to unvested awards at the date of 
adoption shall be based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calculated for pro forma disclosures under the original 
SFAS 123.  In addition, companies may use the Modified Retrospective Application Method.  This method may be applied to all 
prior years for which the original SFAS 123 was effective or only to prior interim periods in the year of initial adoption.  If the 
Modified Retrospective Application Method is applied, financial statements for prior periods shall be adjusted to give effect to 
the fair-value-based method of accounting for awards on a consistent basis with the pro forma disclosures required for those 
periods under the original SFAS 123. 

In March 2004, the EITF reached a final consensus on Issue 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its 
Application to Certain Investments,” to provide additional guidance in determining whether investment securities have an 
impairment which should be considered other-than-temporary.  The adoption of Issue 03-01 did not have an effect on operating 
results or financial condition. 

Reclassification – Certain amounts in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 financial statements have been 
reclassified to conform to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 presentation. 

2. Short-term Investments 

The following is a summary of the Company’s short-term investments:   
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Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains Market Value
March 31, 2005
Corporate obligations 4,500,000$     60,000$          4,560,000$     
U.S. Treasury & Agency securities 7,498,000       11,000            7,509,000       
Certificate of deposit 4,789,000       -                      4,789,000       
Total short-term investments 16,787,000$   71,000$          16,858,000$   

March 31, 2004
Certificate of deposit 7,998,000$     -$                    7,998,000$     
Total short-term investments 7,998,000$     -$                    7,998,000$     

 

The contractual maturities of the short-term investments are due within one year. 

3. Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following: 
 

2005 2004
Raw materials 4,753,000$       2,886,000$       
Work-in-process 1,677,000         1,654,000         
Finished goods 1,925,000         1,196,000         

8,355,000$       5,736,000$       

March 31,

 

4. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following: 
  

2005 2004
Machinery and equipment 11,450,000$          10,210,000$          
Furniture and fixtures 1,147,000              1,111,000              
Computers and computer equipment 1,134,000              1,014,000              
Leasehold improvements 5,357,000            5,453,000            
Construction in progress 1,229,000            396,000               

20,317,000            18,184,000            
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (11,493,000)        (9,993,000)          
Property and equipment, net 8,824,000$           8,191,000$           

March 31,

 
 

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment amounted to $1,821,000, 1,633,000 and $1,634,000 in fiscal 
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
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5. Intangible Assets 

 
Intangible assets, consisting of acquired patents, is summarized as follows: 

2005 2004
Cost 750,000$        750,000$        
Less accumulated amortization (150,000)         (75,000)           

600,000$        675,000$        

March 31, 

 

Amortization expense for intangible assets amounted to $75,000 in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

6. Warranty Reserves 

The Company provides for the estimated future costs to be incurred under the Company's standard warranty obligations of one 
year.  Estimated contractual warranty obligations are recorded when related sales are recognized and any additional amounts are 
recorded when such costs are probable and can be reasonably estimated. 

The warranty reserve activity is summarized as follows for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003:   

2005 2004 2003
Balance beginning of period 181,000$          123,000$          192,000$          
Provision for warranty expense 227,000            229,000            132,000            
Warranty costs incurred (163,000)         (171,000)         (201,000)         
Balance end of period 245,000$          181,000$          123,000$          

Year Ended March 31,

 

7. Line of Credit 

The Company has established a line of credit with Comerica Bank-California which provides for borrowings of up to 
$2,000,000.  The line of credit terminates upon notification by either party and the outstanding balance is payable upon demand.  
The line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate minus 0.25%, which totaled 5.50% at March 31, 2005, and is payable 
monthly.  Of the $2,000,000 available, $410,000 was committed to secure a letter of credit for the Company’s facilities lease at 
March 31, 2005.  At March 31, 2005, there was no amount outstanding under the Company's line of credit.  The weighted 
average interest rate on the line of credit during fiscal 2005 and 2004 was 4.45% and 3.92%, respectively. 

The line of credit agreement contains certain financial covenants, which are evaluated on a quarterly basis.  Included in these 
financial covenants, among other stipulations, is a requirement that the Company have a minimum net income of $25,000 before 
preferred stock dividends and accretion in any three quarters of a fiscal year, provided that any loss before preferred stock 
dividends and accretion on preferred stock incurred in the remaining quarter is not to exceed $250,000.  The Company is also 
required to be profitable, as defined, on a fiscal year to date basis beginning with the six month period ended September 30, 
2004 and to have net income before preferred stock dividends and accretion on preferred stock of $1,150,000 for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2005.  In addition, the Company is required to have a quick ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.00 to 1.00, cash 
flow coverage, as defined, of not less than 1.25 to 1.00, debt to net worth ratio, as defined, not greater than 1.00 to 1.00 and to 
maintain a tangible effective net worth, as defined, of not less than $25,731,000.  At March 31, 2005, the Company was in 
compliance with these covenants. 

Borrowings under the line of credit are collateralized by the Company’s net book value of assets of $61.7 million at 
March 31, 2005 including its intellectual property.   
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8. Commitments and Contingencies 

Lease - The Company leases its principal facility and certain office equipment under non-cancelable operating lease 
agreements, which expire on various dates through fiscal 2011.  For the Company’s facility lease, monthly rental payments 
increase based on a predetermined schedule.  The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease. 
 
At March 31, 2005 and 2004, property and equipment held under capital leases were $90,000 and $103,000, respectively (with 
accumulated amortization of $77,000 and $70,000, respectively). 

The future minimum payments under the capital and operating leases at March 31, 2005 are as follows: 

 
Capital Operating 
Leases Leases

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,  
   2006 17,000$                1,003,000$           
   2007 -                            1,058,000             
   2008 -                            1,096,000             
   2009 -                            1,123,000             
   2010 -                            1,134,000             
   Thereafter -                            875,000                
Total minimum lease payments 17,000                  6,289,000$           
Less amounts representing interest (9.9%) 1,000                    
Present value of minimum lease payments 16,000$                

 

Rent expense under operating leases was $1,046,000, $1,031,000 and $1,008,000 for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  
In connection with its facilities lease agreement, the Company established a letter of credit for $410,000, which is secured by its 
line of credit.  See Note 7. 

Purchase Commitments – In November 2003, the Company entered into an OEM agreement with Diatron Messtechnik GmbH 
(DIATRON) of Austria to purchase DIATRON hematology instruments.  Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is 
committed to purchase a minimum number of hematology units from DIATRON once the product was qualified for sale.  
Qualification occurred in May 2004 and accordingly, the Company has minimum purchase commitments.  As of March 31, 
2005, the outstanding commitment for fiscal 2006 through 2009 was $1,461,000, $2,791,000, $2,792,000 and $2,792,000, 
respectively. 

Litigation – The Company is involved from time to time in various litigation matters in the normal course of business.  While 
the outcome of these proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the ultimate 
resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations. 

9. Retirement Plan 

The Company has a tax deferred savings plan for the benefit of qualified employees.  The plan is designed to provide employees 
with an accumulation of funds at retirement.  Qualified employees may elect to have salary reduction contributions made to the 
plan on a bi-weekly basis.  The Company may make quarterly contributions to the plan at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors of the Company either in cash or in common stock.  Contributions to the deferred savings plan were $94,000, 
$162,000 and $127,000 in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

10. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock - Series E 

In October 2003, under the terms of the Company's Certificate of Determination with respect to the Series E Preferred Stock (the 
"Series E Preferred"), the Series E convertible preferred stock automatically converted into shares of common stock after twenty 
consecutive trading days where the per share closing price of the Company's common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National 
Market exceeded $12.00.  During fiscal 2004, 5,570 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock were converted into 856,907 
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shares of common stock in accordance with the specified exchange ratio.  During fiscal 2004, total dividends related to the 
Series E convertible preferred stock of $181,000, included $7,000 accrued at March 31, 2004 and $174,000 of common stock 
issued.   

11. Shareholders’ Equity 

Series D Convertible Preferred Stock – In October 2003, under the terms of the Company's Certificate of Determination with 
respect to the Series D Preferred Stock (the "Series D Preferred"), the Series D convertible preferred stock automatically 
converted into shares of common stock after twenty consecutive trading days where the per share closing price of the Company's 
common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market exceeded $14.00.  During fiscal 2004, 6,508 shares of Series D 
convertible preferred stock were converted into 929,699 shares of common stock in accordance with the specified exchange 
ratio.  During fiscal 2004, total dividends related to the Series D convertible preferred stock of $238,000, included $21,000 
accrued at March 31, 2004 and $217,000 of common stock issued. 

Common Stock Warrants – As of March 31, 2005, there were warrants to purchase 287,235 shares of common stock at a 
weighted average exercise price of $6.67 per share expiring through May 2007.   The warrants were issued to service providers, 
except for warrants to purchase an aggregate of 23,850 and 110,000 shares of our common stock at a per share exercise price of 
$7.00 issued to purchasers of our Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock, respectively. 

Stock Option Plan – The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are described below.  

1998 Stock Option Plan 

Under the Company’s 1998 Stock Option Plan (the Option Plan), options to purchase common stock may be granted to 
employees and consultants.  Options granted under the Option Plan may be either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock 
options.  Incentive stock options are granted at no less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant and 
nonqualified stock options are granted at no less than 85% of the current fair market value of the common stock on the date of 
grant.  The stock options generally expire ten years from the date of grant and normally become exercisable ratably over four 
years.   

1992 Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan 

Under the Company’s 1992 Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the Directors’ Plan), options to purchase 4,000 shares of 
common stock were automatically granted, annually, to directors of Abaxis who are not employees.  Options under the 
Directors’ Plan were nonqualified stock options and were granted at the fair market value on the date of grant and expired ten 
years from the date of grant.  The time period for granting options under the 1992 Directors’ Plan expired in accordance with 
the terms of the Directors’ Plan in June 2002. 

Stock-based Compensation  

In fiscal 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded $40,000 and $24,000, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense for 
option grants.  Stock-based compensation expense was computed using the Black-Scholes option pricing model over the vesting 
period of each option.

Plan Activity 
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 A summary of activity under all plans is as follows: 
Options Outstanding

Weighted
Number of Average

Common Shares Exercise Price

Balance at April 1, 2002 2,501,325               $4.61
Granted (weighted average fair value of $2.43 per share) 353,504                  3.98                          
Exercised (88,916)                   2.03                          
Canceled (257,118)                 5.50                          
Balance at March 31, 2003 (1,762,949 shares vested at a weighted average exercise price 
of $4.36 per share) 2,508,795                 $4.52
Granted (weighted average fair value of $3.57 per share) 573,750                  5.91                          
Exercised (266,327)                 4.31                          
Canceled (151,994)                 3.71                          
Balance at March 31, 2004 (1,810,845 shares vested at a weighted average exercise price 
of $4.65 per share) 2,664,224                 $4.88
Granted (weighted average fair value of $9.89 per share) 475,500                  18.09                        
Exercised (185,086)                 4.38                          
Canceled (191,311)                 11.13                        
Balance at March 31, 2005 2,763,327                 $6.76

  
 

The following table summarizes information regarding stock options outstanding at March 31, 2005:  
 

Weighted Options Exercisable
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices of Shares Life (Years) Price of Shares Price
1.50$     - 2.00$     289,760       3.77              1.66$         289,760       1.66$          
2.13       - 3.19       272,800       3.92              2.69           252,341       2.67            
3.20       - 3.85       377,560       8.03              3.82           181,742       3.79            
3.92       - 4.25       60,166         6.38              4.14           54,488         4.16            
4.30       - 4.87       475,921       6.05              4.86           465,528       4.86            
4.94       - 5.47       318,287       2.30              5.19           314,475       5.19            
5.50       - 7.56       313,050       5.17              6.34           293,688       6.37            
7.75       - 13.19     290,450       6.49              9.43           203,814       8.31            

13.41     - 21.65     359,833       9.12              19.37         30,397         16.69          
22.10     - 22.80     5,500           8.98              22.16         1,396           22.17          

1.50$     - 22.80$   2,763,327    5.80              6.76$         2,087,629    4.82$          

Options Outstanding

 
 

At March 31, 2005, 326,743 shares of common stock were available for future grants under the Company’s Option Plan. 

Stock Purchase Rights – On April 22, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the adoption of a Shareholder 
Rights Plan.  Under the terms of the plan, shareholders of record on May 8, 2003, received one preferred stock purchase right 
for each outstanding share of Common Stock held.  Each right entitled the registered holder to purchase from the Company one 
one-thousandth of a share of the Company's Series RP Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, at a price of $24.00 per share and 
becomes exercisable when a person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company's Common Stock without prior approval by 
the Board of Directors.  

12. Net Income Per Share 

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding.  Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income 
attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares that would have been outstanding 
during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all potential dilutive common shares outstanding.   
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The following is a reconciliation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in calculating basic and 
diluted net income per share: 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Diluted net income per share does not include the effect of the following common equivalent shares related to outstanding stock 
options and warrants, using the treasury stock method and related to preferred shares issuable upon conversion of preferred 
stock, as their effect would be antidilutive: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Convertible preferred stock -                      -                      1,787,000       
Options to purchase common stock 1,128,000       1,013,000       2,139,000       
Warrants to purchase common stock 208,000            527,000            1,277,000         

1,336,000 1,540,000 5,203,000

(number of shares)

 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Net income 4,851,000$         24,033,000$       1,636,000$          
Preferred stock dividends -                        (419,000)           (865,000)             
Accretion of value attributable to beneficial conversion feature -                        -                         (370,000)             
Net income attributable to common shareholders
  (numerator) - basic and diluted 4,851,000$         23,614,000$       401,000$             

Shares (denominator):
Weighted average common shares outstanding -
Denominator for basic net income per share 19,696,000        18,128,000        16,634,000          
Effect of dilutive securities:
  Stock options 1,721,000          1,810,000          380,000               
  Warrants 245,000             449,000             -                         
Denominator for diluted net income per share 21,662,000        20,387,000        17,014,000          

Net income per share:
  Basic 0.25$                  1.30$                  0.02$                   
  Diluted 0.22$                   1.16$                   0.02$                   

13. Income Tax Provision (Benefit) 

The components of the Company’s income tax provision (benefit) is summarized as follows: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Current:
     Federal 68,000$            118,000$         -$                     
     State 210,000            124,000          5,000              
              Total current 278,000            242,000            5,000                
Deferred:
     Federal 2,232,000         (18,124,000)    -                      
     State 4,000               (1,326,000)      -                      
             Total deferred 2,236,000         (19,450,000)      -                        
Total provision (benefit) 2,514,000$       (19,208,000)$   5,000$             

 
The Company’s amount of income tax provision recorded during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 differs from the amount using the 
Federal statutory rate (35%) primarily due to the following: 

51 



Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Statutory federal income tax rate 2,578,000$          1,689,000$          587,000$             
Statutory state income tax rate 152,000               285,000               96,000                 
Credits (215,000)              (31,000)                (55,000)                
Valuation allowance -                          (21,296,000)       (556,000)            
ETI exclusion (77,000)               -                         -                         
Other 76,000                145,000             (67,000)              

2,514,000$          (19,208,000)$       5,000$                 
                                        

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:
  Net operating loss carryforwards 15,564,000$        17,345,000$        18,157,000$   
  Research and development tax credit carryforwards 3,454,000            3,151,000            3,115,000       
  Capitalized research and development 219,000               345,000               446,000          
  Other, net 1,150,000            1,141,000            1,055,000       

20,387,000          21,982,000          22,773,000     
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (678,000)            (749,000)            (22,773,000)   
Net deferred tax assets 19,709,000$       21,233,000$       -     $              

 
  

A valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized.  The Company established a 100% valuation allowance at March 31, 2003 due to the uncertainty 
of realizing future tax benefits from its net operating loss carryforwards, research and development credits and other deferred 
tax assets.  At March 31, 2004, the Company eliminated the valuation allowance previously maintained against deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized in the future.  The valuation 
allowance of ($21,296,000) reflected in the reconciliation of the income tax provision to the Federal statutory rate for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2004 consisted of the ($22,024,000) change in the valuation allowance for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2004 and $728,000 attributable to deductions relating to stock options that are included in the net operating loss 
carryforward deferred tax asset.  The remaining valuation allowance was attributable to federal research and development tax 
credits that expire in fiscal years 2005 through 2008. The change in the valuation allowance for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2005 consisted of a reduction in the valuation allowance resulting from a reduction in federal research and development credits 
which expired during the fiscal year.  As of March 31, 2005, the remaining valuation allowance is attributable to federal 
research and development tax credits which expire in fiscal years 2006 through 2008. 

As of March 31, 2005, the Company had federal and California net operating loss carryforwards of $43,373,000 and 
$6,677,000, respectively.  The federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates from fiscal years 2006 
through 2021, if not utilized.  The California net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates from fiscal years 2006 
through 2011, if not utilized.  The Company also had federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of 
$2,490,000 and $1,483,000, respectively.  The federal research and development tax credit carryforward will expire at various 
dates from fiscal years 2006 through 2025, if not utilized.  The California research and development tax credit will carryforward 
indefinitely. 

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places a limitation on the amount of taxable income which can be offset by net operating 
loss (“NOL”) carryforwards after a change in control (generally greater than 50% change in ownership) of a loss corporation.  
The State of California has similar rules.  Generally, after a change in control, a loss corporation cannot deduct NOL 
carryforwards in excess of the Section 382 limitation.  Due to these “change in ownership” provisions, utilization of NOL and 
tax credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation regarding their utilization against taxable income in future 
periods. 
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14. Product Category, Customer and Geographic Information 

The Company currently operates in one segment and develops, manufactures and markets portable blood analysis systems for 
use in any veterinary or human patient-care setting to clinicians with rapid blood constituent measurement requirements.  The 
following is a summary of revenues from external customers for each group of products and services provided by the Company: 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Instruments 17,203,000$        16,194,000$        10,735,000$        
Reagent discs and kits 32,921,000          28,144,000          21,893,000          
Other 2,340,000            2,261,000          1,904,000          

Product sales, net 52,464,000          46,599,000          34,532,000          
Development and licensing revenue 294,000               275,000               248,000               
Total revenues 52,758,000$        46,874,000$       34,780,000$       

  
 
The following is a summary of revenues by customer group: 
 

2005 2004 2003
Medical Market 8,095,000$          7,119,000$       3,037,000$       
Veterinary Market 42,806,000          37,875,000       30,313,000       
Other 1,857,000            1,880,000         1,430,000         
Total revenues 52,758,000$        46,874,000$     34,780,000$     

Year Ended March 31,

 
The following is a summary of revenues by geographic region based on customer location: 
 

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

United States 45,059,000$    40,232,000$   29,029,000$   
Europe 5,915,000        4,773,000      3,866,000      
Asia and Latin America 1,784,000        1,869,000      1,885,000      
Total revenues 52,758,000$    46,874,000$    34,780,000$    

 
Two distributors, DVM Resources and Vedco, Inc. accounted for 17% and 14%, respectively, of total revenues for fiscal 2005, 
and 16% and 27%, respectively, of total revenues for fiscal 2004.  

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States. 

15.  Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited) 

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for fiscal 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, except per 
share data):  
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 June 30  September 30  December 31  March 31

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005:
Net revenues 13,242$                 13,635$                 12,063$                 13,818$                 
Gross profit 7,168                     7,367                     6,069                     7,343                     
Net income 1,434$                   1,341$                   770$                      1,306$                   
Net income attributable to common shareholders 1,434$                   1,341$                   770$                      1,306$                   
Net income per share - basic 0.07$                     0.07$                     0.04$                     0.07$                     
Net income per share - diluted 0.07$                     0.06$                     0.04$                     0.06$                     

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004:
Net revenues 10,326$                 11,523$                 12,280$                 12,745$                 
Gross profit 5,106                     5,882                     6,125                     6,795                     
Net income 863$                      1,066$                   1,173$                   20,931$                 
Net income attributable to common shareholders 659$                      879$                      1,145$                   20,931$                 
Net income per share - basic 0.04$                     0.05$                     0.06$                     1.08$                     
Net income per share - diluted 0.04$                     0.05$                     0.05$                     0.96$                     

Quarter Ended

 

ITEM 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

 None. 
 
ITEM 9A.  Controls and Procedures 

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer), as of the end of the period covered by this report, our principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) are effective to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the 
time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

A material weakness is a significant deficiency (as defined in PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2), or a combination of significant 
deficiencies, that results in there being more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by management or employees in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005.  
Management's assessment identified a material weakness in the Company's internal control over financial reporting.  As of March 31, 
2005, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the determination and reporting of the provision for income taxes.  There 
were errors in the annual tax provision for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 (which required correction prior to the issuance of the 
financial statements) as a result of ineffective controls relating to insufficient formalized procedures to obtain and review documents 
with tax-related information in the determination of the provision of income taxes and the components of deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities.  Additionally, there were insufficient formalized procedures to ensure that the provision of income taxes received 
adequate review to ensure that the provision of income taxes is accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

This material weakness resulted from a design deficiency and resulted in audit adjustments to the provision for income taxes totaling 
$280,000.  These audit adjustments were reflected in our fiscal 2005 earnings announcement on April 28, 2005, filed on a Current 
Report on Form 8-K, and does not impact previously filed financial statements.  Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a 
future material misstatement of the Company’s income tax provision (and related balance sheet accounts) that would not be prevented 
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or detected by management.  Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.  
In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.  Because of the material weakness described above, management 
believes that, as of March 31, 2005, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was not effective. 

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte and Touche LLP, has issued an attestation report on management’s 
assessment of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, which is included below. 

Planned Remediation Action to Address Material Weakness of Internal Control 

As discussed in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, as of March 31, 2005, there was a material 
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.  During fiscal 2006, we plan to implement improved controls over the 
preparation of the provision for income taxes.  In addition, we plan to implement improved controls to facilitate a comprehensive and 
detailed review of our tax accounting and reporting.  Once fully implemented, management believes that these new controls will be 
effective at remediating this material weakness. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange 
Act) during the quarter ended March 31, 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.  The discussion above under “Planned Remediation Action to Address Material Weakness of Internal 
Control” describes the improvements in our internal control over financial reporting that we plan to implement in fiscal 2006.  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Abaxis, Inc.: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting, that Abaxis, Inc. (the “Company”) did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 
2005, because of the effect of the material weakness identified in management’s assessment based on the criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  The 
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal 
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, 
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to 
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the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.  

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote 
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The following 
material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment:  As of March 31, 2005, the Company did not 
maintain effective controls over the determination and reporting of the provision for income taxes.  Specifically, the Company did not 
have effective controls to ensure appropriate preparation and review of the provision for income taxes and the components of deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities.  This material weakness resulted from a design deficiency and resulted in audit adjustments to the 
provision for income taxes totaling $280,000.  Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a future material misstatement of 
the Company’s income tax provision (and related balance sheet accounts) that would not be prevented or detected by management.  
This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the financial 
statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended March 31, 2005 of the Company and this report does not 
affect our report on such financial statements and financial statement schedule.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
March 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Also in our opinion, because of the effect of the 
material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended March 31, 2005 of the Company and our report 
dated June 13, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule. 

/s/     DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

San Jose, California 

June 13, 2005 
 
Item 9B.  Other Information 

 None.  

PART III 

ITEM 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our directors and executive officers:   

Name Age Title 

Clinton H. Severson 57 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer 

Richard J. Bastiani, Ph.D. (1)(2) 62 Director 

Henk J. Evenhuis (1) 62 Director 

Brenton G. A. Hanlon  (1) (2) 59 Director 

Prithipal Singh, Ph.D.  (1) 66 Director 

Ernest S. Tucker, III, M.D. (1) 72 Director 

Alberto R. Santa Ines  58 Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance 

Robert B. Milder       55 Chief Operations Officer 
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Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D.       52 Vice President of Research and Development 

Vladimir E. Ostoich, Ph.D. 59 Vice President of Government Affairs and Vice President of Marketing 
for the Pacific Rim, Founder 

 
(1) Member of the Audit Committee 
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee 

Clinton H. Severson has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and one of our directors since June 1996.  He was appointed 
Chairman of the Board in May 1998.  From February 1989 to May 1996, Mr. Severson served as President and Chief Executive 
Officer of MAST Immunosystems, Inc., a privately held medical diagnostic company.  

Richard J. Bastiani, Ph.D. joined our Board of Directors in September 1995.  Since August 1998, Dr. Bastiani has served as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of ID Biomedical Corporation (NASDAQ: IDBE), after he was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of ID Biomedical Corporation in October 1996.  Dr. Bastiani was President of Dendreon (NASDAQ: DNDN), a 
biotechnology company from September 1995 to September 1998.  From 1971 until 1995, Dr. Bastiani held a number of positions 
with Syva Company, a diagnostic company, including as President from 1991 until Syva was acquired by a subsidiary of Hoechst AG 
of Germany in 1995.   Dr. Bastiani is also a member of the board of directors of two privately held companies. 

Henk J. Evenhuis joined our Board of Directors in November 2002.  Mr. Evenhuis currently serves as a Director of Credence Systems 
Corporation (NASDAQ: CMOS), a semiconductor equipment manufacturer.  Mr. Evenhuis served as Chief Financial Officer of Fair 
Isaac Corporation (NYSE: FIC), a global provider of analytic software products to the financial services, insurance and health care 
industries from October 1999 to October 2002.  From 1987 to 1998, he was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Lam Research Corporation (NASDAQ: LRCX), a semiconductor equipment manufacturer. 

Brenton G. A. Hanlon joined our Board of Directors in November 1996.  Since January 2001, Mr. Hanlon has been President and 
Chief Executive Officer of Hitachi Chemical Diagnostics, a manufacturer of in vitro allergy diagnostic products.  Concurrently, from 
December 1996 until the present, Mr. Hanlon has served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Tri-Continent Scientific, a 
subsidiary of Hitachi Chemical.  From 1989 to December 1996, Mr. Hanlon was Vice President and General Manager of Tri-
Continent Scientific.  Mr. Hanlon serves on the board of directors of two privately held companies. 

Prithipal Singh, Ph.D. joined our Board of Directors in June 1992.  Dr. Singh has been the Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of ChemTrak Inc. (Pink Sheets: CMTR) from 1988 to 1998.  Prior to this, Dr. Singh was an Executive Vice President of 
Idetec Corporation from 1985 to 1988 and a Vice President of Syva Corporation from 1977 to 1985.  Dr. Singh is also on the board of 
a privately held company. 

Ernest S. Tucker, III, M.D. joined our Board of Directors in September 1995.  Dr. Tucker currently serves as a self-employed 
healthcare consultant after having retired as Chief Compliance Officer for Scripps Health in San Diego in September 2000, a position 
which he assumed in April 1998.  Dr. Tucker was Chairman of Pathology at Scripps Clinic and Research Foundation from 1992 to 
1998 and Chair of Pathology at California Pacific Medical Center in San Francisco from 1989 to 1992. 

Alberto R. Santa Ines has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance since April 2002. Mr. Santa Ines joined 
us in February 2000 as Finance Manager.  In April 2001, Mr. Santa Ines was promoted to Interim Chief Financial Officer and 
Director of Finance, and in April 2002 he was promoted to his current position.  From March 1998 to January 2000, Mr. Santa Ines 
was a self-employed consultant to several companies.  From August 1997 to March 1998, Mr. Santa Ines was the Controller of Unisil 
(Pink Sheets: USIL), a semiconductor company.  From April 1994 to August 1997, he was a Senior Finance Manager at Lam 
Research Corporation (NASDAQ: LRCX), a semiconductor equipment manufacturer. 

Robert B. Milder has served as our Chief Operations Officer since April 2000.  Mr. Milder joined us in May 1998 as Vice President 
of Operations.  From December 1996 to May 1998, Mr. Milder was the Vice President of Manufacturing for Nidek, Inc., a 
manufacturer of opthalmic and surgical lasers.  From March 1992 to January 1996, Mr. Milder was Vice President of Operations for 
Heraeus Surgical, Inc., a surgical capital equipment manufacturer. 

Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D. joined us in February 2000 as Vice President of Research and Development.  From April 1998 to November 
1999, Dr. Aron was Vice President of Engineering and Technology of Incyte Pharmaceuticals (NASDAQ: INCY), a genomic 
information company.  From April 1996 to April 1998, Dr. Aron was Vice President, Research, Development and Engineering for 
Cardiogenesis Corporation (NASDAQ: CGCP), a manufacturer of laser-based cardiology surgical products.  
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Vladimir E. Ostoich, Ph.D., one of our co-founders, is currently our Vice President of Government Affairs and Vice President of 
Marketing for the Pacific Rim.  Dr. Ostoich has served as Vice President in various capacities at Abaxis since our inception, including 
as Vice President of Research and Development, Senior Vice President of Research and Development, Vice President of Engineering 
and Instrument Manufacturing and Vice President of Marketing and Sales for the United States and Canada. 

All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders of Abaxis and until their successors have been elected and 
qualified.  Our Bylaws authorize the Board of Directors to fix the number of directors at not less than four or more than seven.  The 
number of directors of the Company is currently six. 

Each officer serves at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  There are no family relationships among any of our directors or 
officers. 

Identification of Audit Committee and Financial Expert  

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors oversees Abaxis' corporate accounting and financial reporting process.  The outside 
directors comprise the Audit Committee:  Messrs. Bastiani, Evenhuis, Hanlon, Singh and Tucker.  Mr. Evenhuis serves as Chairman 
of the Audit Committee.  

The Board of Directors annually reviews the Nasdaq National Market listing standards definition of independence for Audit 
Committee members and has determined that all members of the Abaxis Audit Committee are independent (as independence is 
currently defined in Rule 4350(d)(2)(A)(i) and (ii) of the Nasdaq National Market listing standards).  Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or SEC, regulations require Abaxis to disclose whether a director qualifying as an “audit committee financial expert” 
serves on the Audit Committee.  The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Evenhuis qualifies as an “audit committee financial 
expert,” as defined in applicable SEC rules.  The Board of Directors made a qualitative assessment of Mr. Evenhuis’s level of 
knowledge and experience based on a number of factors, including his formal education and experience as a chief financial officer for 
public reporting companies. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own 
more than 10% of our common stock to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.  Such persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms filed by 
such persons. 

Based solely on our review of the copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5 and amendments thereto received by us, we believe that during the 
period from April 1, 2004 through March 31, 2005, our officers and directors complied with all applicable filing requirements except 
with respect to one late filing by our director. 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

Abaxis has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all our executive officers, directors and employees.  The 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at www.abaxis.com.  If we make any amendments to the Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver from a provision of the code to any executive officer or director, we will promptly 
disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website.  

Employment Agreements 

In March 1997, we entered into an employment agreement with Clinton H. Severson, our President, Chief Executive Officer, and 
Chairman of our Board of Directors, which provides Mr. Severson with six months of salary and benefits if his employment with us is 
terminated for other than cause.  In April 2001, this agreement was modified to increase the length of term from six months to two 
years. 

ITEM 11.   EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND OTHER MATTERS 

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 of our Chief Executive 
Officer and our four other most highly compensated executive officers whose total salary and bonus for our fiscal 2005 exceeded 
$100,000, for services in all capacities to us, during our fiscal 2005. 
 
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 
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Annual Compensation ($) 

Long-Term 
Compensation 

Awards 
 
 
Name and Principal Position 

 
Fiscal 
Year 

 
 

 
 

Salary 

 
 

Bonus(1) 

Securities 
Underlying 
Options (#) 

Clinton H. Severson 
President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Chairman of the Board 

2005 
2004 
2003 

 $   300,000       
285,000 
265,000 

$   245,000     
461,000 
187,000 

50,000 
50,000 

- 
Alberto R. Santa Ines 
Chief Financial Officer and Vice 
President of Finance 

2005 
2004 
2003 

 $   160,000       
150,000 
131,000 

$   158,000   
406,000(2) 
125,000 

40,000 
40,000 
50,000 

Robert B. Milder 
Chief Operations Officer 

2005 
2004 
2003 

 $   185,000       
175,000 
165,000 

$  189,000  
360,000 
149,000 

40,000 
40,000 

- 
Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D. 
Vice President of Research and 
Development 

2005 
2004 
2003 

 $   170,000       
160,000 
150,000 

$  158,000      
302,000 
125,000 

40,000 
40,000 

- 
Vladimir E. Ostoich, Ph.D. 
Vice President of Government Affairs 
and Vice President of Marketing for the 
Pacific Rim 

2005 
2004 
2003 

 

 $  180,000        
170,000 
160,000 

 

$  158,000    
302,000 
125,000 

 

40,000 
40,000 

- 

 

(1)  Represents bonuses earned during the fiscal year. 
(2)  Includes $113,000 in connection with an Employee Retention Incentive Agreement. 
 

STOCK OPTION GRANTS 

The following table shows the stock options granted to the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table during fiscal 2005. 
 

OPTION GRANTED IN FISCAL 2005 

 
 
 
 
Name 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Options 
Granted 

 (#) (1) 

% of Total 
Options 

Granted to 
Employees 

in Fiscal 
Year 2005 

 
 

 
Exercise 

Base Price 
($/Sh) (2) 

 
 

 
 

Expiration 
Date 

 
 

Potential Realizable Value at Assumed 
Annual Rates of Stock Price 

Appreciation for Option Term (3)

       5% ($)                   10% ($) 
Clinton H. Severson      50,000       10.5% $ 21.65 4/20/2014 $ 680,778 $ 1,725,226 
Alberto R. Santa Ines      40,000     8.4% $ 21.65 4/20/2014      $ 544,623 $ 1,380,181 
Robert B. Milder  40,000     8.4% $ 21.65 4/20/2014 $ 544,623 $ 1,380,181 
Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D. 40,000     8.4% $ 21.65 4/20/2014 $ 544,623 $ 1,380,181 
Vladimir E. Ostoich, Ph.D.      40,000     8.4% $ 21.65 4/20/2014 $ 544,623 $ 1,380,181 
       

 (1) All options granted in fiscal 2005 were granted pursuant to our 1998 Stock Option Plan.  The options vest and become 
exercisable at the rate of one-fourth on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 1/48 per month thereafter for each full month 
of the optionee’s continuous employment by us.  Under our 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Board retains discretion to modify the 
terms, including the price, of outstanding options.  For additional information regarding options, see “Change of Control 
Arrangements.”   

(2) All options were granted at market value on the date of grant. 

(3)  Potential gains are net of exercise price, but before taxes associated with exercise.  These amounts represent certain assumed rates 
of appreciation only, based on the Securities and Exchange Commission rules.  Actual gains, if any, on stock option exercise are 
dependent on the future performance of the common stock, overall market conditions and the option holders’ continued 
employment through the vesting period.  The amounts reflected in this table may not necessarily be achieved. 
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OPTIONS EXERCISED  

The following table shows stock option exercises and the number and value of unexercised stock options held by the persons named 
in the Summary Compensation Table during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005. 
 

OPTION EXERCISES IN FISCAL 2005 AND OPTION VALUES AT MARCH 31, 2005 

 
 

 
Name 

 
Shares 

Acquired on 
Exercise (#) 

 
Value 

Realized 
($)(1) 

 
Number of Unexercised Options 

at March 31, 2005 (#) (2) 
Exercisable      Unexercisable 

Value of Unexercised 
 In-the-Money Options  
at March 31, 2005 ($) (3) 

Exercisable            Unexercisable 
Clinton  H. Severson   - - 684,833 79,167      $3,426,673 $142,648   
Alberto R. Santa Ines - -        91,083  77,917         $383,108 $203,326 
Robert B. Milder - - 207,125 61,875         $878,312 $108,312 
Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D. - - 182,625 61,875         $510,148   $108,312     
Vladimir E. Ostoich, 
Ph.D. 

- - 217,625 61,875         $858,673 $108,312 

      
(1) Amounts shown under the column “Value Realized” are based on the fair market value of our common stock on the exercise date 

as reported on the Nasdaq National Market less the aggregate exercise price. 

(2) Options to purchase our common stock generally vest as to one-fourth of the option grant on the first anniversary of the date of 
grant and 1/48 per month thereafter for each full month of the optionee’s continuous employment with Abaxis.  All options are 
exercisable only to the extent vested. 

(3) The value of the unexercised in-the-money options is based on the reported closing price of our common stock ($8.85 per share) 
on the Nasdaq National Market on March 31, 2005, the last trading day of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, and is net of the 
exercise price of such options.  

Compensation of Directors 

In fiscal 2005, all of our non-employee directors received compensation in the amount of $2,258 per each quarterly Board meeting 
they attended plus reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses incurred.  Each of our non-employee directors also receives an 
automatic annual grant of options to purchase 4,000 shares of our common stock under our 1998 Stock Option Plan.   

In fiscal 2005, all of our directors in the Audit Committee received compensation in the amount of $750 per each quarterly Audit 
Committee meeting they attended. 

Change of Control Arrangements 

Our 1998 Stock Option Plan and 1992 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan provide that, in the event of a transfer of control of 
Abaxis, the surviving, continuing, successor or purchasing corporation or a parent corporation thereof, as the case may be, which is 
referred to as the acquiring corporation, shall either assume our rights and obligations under stock option agreements outstanding 
under our option plans or substitute options for the acquiring corporation’s stock for such outstanding options.  In the event the 
acquiring corporation elects not to assume or substitute for such outstanding options in connection with a merger constituting a 
transfer of control, our Board shall provide that any unexercisable and/or unvested portion of the outstanding options shall be 
immediately exercisable and vested as of a date prior to the transfer of control, as our Board so determines.  Any options which are 
neither assumed by the acquiring corporation, nor exercised as of the date of the transfer of control, shall terminate effective as of the 
date of the transfer of control.  Options which are assumed by the acquiring corporation shall become exercisable and vested as 
provided under the relevant stock option agreements under the option plans, unless the acquiring corporation terminates the option 
holder under certain circumstances defined in the option plans.  Under such circumstances, the holder’s options shall become 
immediately exercisable and vested as of the date of termination. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

To our knowledge, the following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as 
of June 7, 2005 by (i) the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table; (ii) each of our directors, (iii) all of our executive 
officers and directors as a group and (iv) one holder of 10.8% of our common stock.  The persons named in the table have sole voting 
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and investment power with respect to all shares of Common Stock shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to community 
property laws where applicable and to the information contained in the footnotes to this table.   

 
 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner  

Shares 
Beneficially

Owned 

Percent of Abaxis 
Common Stock 
Outstanding (1) 

   
Wasatch Advisors, Inc. (3)     2,157,682             10.8% 
   
Executive Officers: (2)   
Clinton H. Severson (4) 877,605 4.4% 
Vladimir E. Ostoich, Ph.D. (5) 471,468 2.4% 
Robert B. Milder (6) 275,735 1.4% 
Kenneth P. Aron, Ph.D.  (7) 208,631 1.0% 
Alberto R. Santa Ines (8) 129,316 * 
   
Outside Directors: (2)   
Richard J. Bastiani, Ph.D. (9) 69,333 * 
Henk J. Evenhuis (10) 17,000 * 
Brenton G. A. Hanlon (11) 37,667 * 
Prithipal Singh, Ph.D. (12) 36,000 * 
Ernest S. Tucker, III, M.D. (13) 39,333 * 
   
Executive officers and directors as a group (10 persons)  (14) 2,162,088 10.9% 
   
* Less than 1% 

(1) The percentages shown in this column are calculated from the 19,891,607 shares of common stock outstanding on 
March 31, 2005. 

(2) The business address of the beneficial owner listed is c/o Abaxis, Inc., 3240 Whipple Road, Union City, CA 
94587. 

(3) Based on information set forth in a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 
10, 2005 by Wasatch Advisors, Inc., reporting sole power to vote and dispose of 2,157,682 shares.  The business 
address for Wasatch Advisors, Inc. is 150 Social Hall Avenue, Salt Lake City, UT 84111. 

 

(4) 
 
Includes: 

• 169,855 shares, and 
• 707,750 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Mr. Severson within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(5)  
 
Includes: 

• 51,040 shares; 
• 31,500 shares held by Dr. Ostoich’s IRA; 
• 29,500 shares held by Mrs. Ostoich’s IRA; 
• 117,328 shares held by the Vladimir Ostoich and Liliana Ostoich Trust Fund, for the benefit of 

Dr. Ostoich and his wife; 
• 7,600 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants; and 
• 234,500 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Dr. Ostoich within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

 (6) 
 
Includes: 

• 51,735 shares; 
• 224,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Mr. Milder within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(7) 

 
Includes: 

• 9,131 shares; 
• 199,500 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Dr. Aron within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 
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(8) 

 
Includes: 

• 17,815 shares; 
• 111,501 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Mr. Santa Ines within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(9) 

 
Includes: 

• 42,000 shares; 
• 27,333 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Dr. Bastiani within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(10) 
 
Includes 17,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Mr. Evenhuis within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(11) 
 
Includes: 

• 11,000 shares; 
• 26,667 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Mr. Hanlon within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(12) 
 
Includes: 

• 10,000 shares; 
• 26,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Dr. Singh within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(13) 
 
Includes 39,333 shares subject to stock options exercisable by Dr. Tucker within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 

 

(14) 

 

 
Includes: 

• 540,904 shares; 
• 7,600 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants held individually; and 
• 1,613,584 shares subject to options exercisable within sixty days of June 7, 2005. 
 

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

None. 

ITEM 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The aggregate fees billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP for audit and non-audit services provided to the Company in fiscal 2005 and 
2004 were as follows: 
 

2005 2004
Audit Fees (1) 740,000$     241,000$    
Audit-Related Fees (2)                  -             9,000 
Tax Fees (3)          11,000         86,000 
All Other Fees (4)            1,000           8,000 
Total All Fees 752,000$     344,000$    

Year Ended M arch 31,

(1)  Audit fees represent fees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our financial statements and review of 
our quarterly financial statements.  In fiscal 2005, audit fees also included attestation services related to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

(2)  Audit-related fees billed during fiscal 2004 were for services related to accounting consultation and review of documents filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(3)  Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance and tax advice.   In fiscal 2004, this category 
also included professional services rendered for preparation and review of income tax returns.    

(4)  All other fees consist of fees for products and services other than the services reported above.  In fiscal 2005, this category 
consisted of a subscription to accounting and financial disclosure literature.  In fiscal 2004, this category consisted fees related to an 
informational workshop on internal controls. 
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The Audit Committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services to be performed for the Company 
by its independent auditor.  The Audit Committee has considered the role of Deloitte & Touche LLP in providing audit, audit-related 
and tax services to Abaxis and has concluded that such services are compatible with Deloitte & Touche’s role as Abaxis’ independent 
auditor. 

PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

(a)  Documents filed as part of this report: 

1.  Financial Statements 

The Financial Statements required by this item are listed on the Index to Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this report.  

2.  Financial Statement Schedules 

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves    

Other financial statement schedules are not included because they are not required or the information is otherwise shown in the 
financial statements or notes thereto. 

3.  Exhibits  

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference into, this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Abaxis, Inc. 

Schedule II 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves 

Description

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Year

Additions 
Charged to 
Expenses

Deductions 
from Reserves

Balance at 
End of Year

Reserve for Doubtful Accounts & Sales Allowances
Year ended March 31, 2005 257,000$        617,000$        392,000$        482,000$        
Year ended March 31, 2004 267,000          586,000          596,000          257,000          
Year ended March 31, 2003 244,000          422,000          399,000          267,000          
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EXHIBIT INDEX 
Exhibit No. Description of Document 
  3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation (4) 
  3.2 By-laws (2) 
  4.2 Form of Warrant Agreement issued to purchasers of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock(7) 
  4.4 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 29, 2002 (10) 
  4.5 Form of Warrant Agreement issued to purchasers of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock(10) 
10.5 1989 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated as the 1998 Stock Option Plan (3) 
10.6 1992 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan and forms of agreement (4) 
10.7 401(k) Defined Contribution Plan (2) 
10.15 Development Agreement between the Company and Becton Dickinson and Company (through its Becton Dickinson 

Immunocytometry Systems Division) dated April 9, 1993 (1)(4) 
10.17 Supply Agreement between the Company and Becton Dickinson and Company (through its Becton Dickinson 

Immunocytometry Systems Division) dated September 16, 1994 (1)(5) 
10.18 Licensing agreement between the Company and Pharmacia Biotech, Inc. dated October 1, 1994 (1)(5) 
10.20 Employment Agreement with Mr. Clinton H. Severson dated March 31, 1997 (6) 
10.25 Lease Agreement with Principal Development Investors, LLC, dated June 21, 2000 (9) 
10.26 Employee Retention Incentive Agreement with Mr. Alberto R. Santa Ines, as amended, as of May 1, 2002. (11) 
10.27 Joint Defense Agreement by and between Abaxis, Inc. and S.A. Scientific, Inc. dated as of May 8, 2002(11) 
10.28 Loan and Security Agreement with Comerica Bank - California dated March 13, 2002 (12) 
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10.29 First and Second Modification to Loan and Security Agreement with Comerica Bank - California dated March 29, 
2002 (12) 

10.30 Loan Revision/Extension Agreement with Comerica Bank - California dated March 29, 2002 (12) 
10.31 Loan Revision/Extension Agreement with Comerica Bank - California dated September 23, 2002 (13) 
10.32 
 

Letter Setting Forth Additional Terms of Relationship Between Abaxis and Pharmacia Biotech dated as of June 9, 
1997  (1) (13) 

10.33 Letter from Abaxis to Becton Dickinson and Company dated December 12, 1997 (13) 
10.34 Distribution Agreement by and between Diatron Messtechnik GmbH and Abaxis, dated November 13, 2003 (1) (17) 
10.35 Distribution Agreement by and between Scil Animal Care Company GmbH and Abaxis, Inc., dated September 1, 

2001 (15) 
10.36 Loan and Security Agreement by and between Abaxis and Comerica Bank-California dated as of September 8, 2003 

(14) 
10.37 First Modification to Business Loan Agreement with Comerica Bank - California dated September 15, 2004 (16) 
21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant 
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 
 
(1) Confidential treatment of certain portions of these agreements has been granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(2) Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 33-44326 filed December 11, 1991. 

(3) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2004. 

(4)  Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1993. 

(5)  Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1994. 

(6) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997. 

(7) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K on October 19, 2000. 

(8) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Amended Current Report on Form 8-K/A on January 5, 2000. 

(9) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Registration Statement on Form S-3 on January 10, 2000. 

(10) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Current Report on Form 8-K on May 13, 2002. 

(11) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002. 

(12) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002. 

(13) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002. 

(14) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003. 

(15) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with Amendment Number One to our Annual report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2002, as filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on December 24, 2002. 

(16) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004. 

(17) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit filed with our Annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on June 14, 2005. 

   
ABAXIS, INC. 

 BY /s/ Clinton H. Severson 
  Clinton H. Severson 
  Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons 
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Title Date 
   
 
/s/ Clinton H. Severson 

President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director (Principal Executive Officer) 

June 14, 2005 

Clinton H. Severson   
   
 
 
/s/ Alberto R. Santa Ines 

Chief Financial Officer and 
Vice President of Finance (Principal 
Financial and Accounting Officer) 

June 14, 2005 

Alberto R. Santa Ines   
   
/s/ Richard J. Bastiani, Ph.D. Director June 14, 2005 
Richard Bastiani   
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/s/ Henk J. Evenhuis Director June 14, 2005 
Henk J. Evenhuis    
   
/s/ Brenton G. A. Hanlon Director June 14, 2005 
Brenton G. A. Hanlon   
   
/s/ Prithipal Singh, Ph.D. Director June 14, 2005 
Prithipal Singh, Ph.D.   
   
/s/ Ernest S. Tucker III Director June 14, 2005 
Ernest S. Tucker III   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 21.1 

 

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT 

 

None. 
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EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements Nos. 33-49758, 33-85744, 333-07541, 333-85131, 333-
65812, 333-84356, 333-102185 and 333-112815 on Form S-8 and Nos. 333-69999, 333-53484 and 333-98475 on Form S-3 of (i) our 
report dated June 13, 2005 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of Abaxis, Inc. and (ii) our report 
dated June 13, 2005 relating to management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which report 
expresses an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting because of a material 
weakness) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Abaxis, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2005. 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
San Jose, California 
June 13, 2005 
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302(a) Certification 

 
  
I, Clinton H. Severson, certify that:  
  
1. I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 10-K of Abaxis, Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;   

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;   

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:   

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and   

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

 

  

Date:    June 14, 2005       /s/ Clinton H. Severson  
  Clinton H. Severson 
      President and Chief Executive Officer 
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EXHIBIT 31.2 

Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302(a) Certification 

 
 
I, Alberto R. Santa Ines, certify that:  
  
1. I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 10-K of Abaxis, Inc.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;   

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;   

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:   

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and   

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

 
   

Date:    June 14, 2005       /s/ Alberto R. Santa Ines  
  Alberto R. Santa Ines 
      Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1 
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Certification of Chief Executive Officer 

I, Clinton H. Severson, Chief Executive Officer of Abaxis, Inc. (the “Registrant”), do hereby certify in accordance with 18 U.S.C. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Registrant, to which this certification is attached as an exhibit (the “Report”), 
fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Registrant. 

Dated:  June 14, 2005 

By: /s/ Clinton H. Severson  
Clinton H. Severson  
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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EXHIBIT 32.2 
 

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer 

I, Alberto R. Santa Ines, Chief Financial Officer of Abaxis, Inc. (the “Registrant”), do hereby certify in accordance with 18 U.S.C. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Registrant, to which this certification is attached as an exhibit (the “Report”), 
fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Registrant. 

Dated:  June 14, 2005 

By: /s/ Alberto R. Santa Ines  
Alberto R. Santa Ines  
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
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